Published for SISSA by 🙆 Springer

RECEIVED: December 18, 2023 ACCEPTED: January 10, 2024 PUBLISHED: February 13, 2024

# Low-energy effective field theory below the electroweak scale: one-loop renormalization in the 't Hooft-Veltman scheme

Luca Naterop  $b^{a,b,c}$  and Peter Stoffer  $b^{a,b}$ 

<sup>a</sup>Physik-Institut, Universität Zürich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, 8057 Zürich, Switzerland

<sup>b</sup>Paul Scherrer Institut,

5232 Villigen PSI, Switzerland

<sup>c</sup>Department of Physics, University of California at San Diego,

9500 Gilman Drive, La Jolla, CA 92093-0319, U.S.A.

E-mail: luca.naterop@physik.uzh.ch, stoffer@physik.uzh.ch

ABSTRACT: The low-energy effective field theory below the electroweak scale (LEFT) describes the effects at low energies of both the weak interaction and physics beyond the Standard Model. We study the one-loop renormalization of the LEFT in the 't Hooft-Veltman scheme, which offers an algebraically consistent definition of the Levi-Civita symbol and  $\gamma_5$  in dimensional regularization. However, in connection with minimal subtraction this scheme leads to a spurious breaking of chiral symmetry in intermediate steps of the calculation. Based on the 't Hooft-Veltman prescription, we define a renormalization scheme that restores chiral symmetry by including appropriate finite counterterms. To this end, we extend the physical LEFT operator basis by a complete set of off-shell and one-loop-evanescent operators and we perform the renormalization at one loop. We determine the finite counterterms to the physical parameters that compensate both the insertions of evanescent operators, as well as the chiral-symmetry-breaking terms from the renormalizable part of the Lagrangian in Ddimensions. Our results can be applied in next-to-leading-log calculations in the 't Hooft-Veltman scheme: using our renormalization scheme instead of pure minimal subtraction separates the physical sector from the unphysical evanescent sector and leads to results that are manifestly free of spurious chiral-symmetry-breaking terms.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Renormalization and Regularization, Renormalization Group

ARXIV EPRINT: 2310.13051



# Contents

1	1 Introduction						
<b>2</b>	LEFT	2					
	2.1 Lagrangian and power counting	2					
	2.2 Nuisance operators	4					
	2.3 Background-field method	5					
3	Scheme definition	5					
	3.1 Dimensional regularization	5					
	3.2 Evanescent operators	7					
	3.2.1 Bosonic and fermion-bilinear operators	8					
	3.2.2 Evanescent four-fermion operators and Fierz relations	8					
	3.3 Chiral symmetry	10					
4	Renormalization and field redefinitions	13					
	4.1 Renormalization procedure	13					
	4.2 Equations of motion and non-linear field redefinitions	15					
	4.3 Theta terms and anomalous axial rotations	17					
5	Calculation and results	20					
6	Summary and conclusions	21					
	Acknowledgements	22					
$\mathbf{A}$	Conventions	22					
	A.1 Dirac algebra	22					
	A.2 Color algebra	22					
в	Conventions for the supplementary material	22					
$\mathbf{C}$	Renormalization-group equations at two loops	23					
D	LEFT operator basis	27					
	D.1 On-shell basis	27					
	D.2 On-shell-redundant operators	30					
	D.3 Evanescent operators	31					

#### 1 Introduction

The absence of direct signals of physics beyond the Standard Model (SM) at the LHC has triggered increased activity in the context of indirect precision searches at low energies. The theoretical tool to systematically calculate low-energy quantum effects of heavy new physics are effective field theories (EFTs), which allow one to parametrize deviations from the SM, to combine constraints from different energy regions, and to improve perturbation theory by resumming large logarithms. At the scale of heavy new physics, the EFT can be matched to the UV model of choice that describes the underlying new physics.

Under the assumption of linear realization of the electroweak symmetry, the deviations from the SM in observables above the weak scale are described by the Standard Model Effective Field Theory (SMEFT) [1, 2], which is invariant under the full SM gauge group, see ref. [3] for a recent review. For observables below the electroweak scale, the heavy SM particles should first be integrated out: the top quark, the Higgs boson, as well as the electroweak gauge bosons. This results in the low-energy effective field theory below the weak scale (LEFT), which is invariant only under the QCD and QED gauge groups. A complete and non-redundant on-shell basis for the LEFT operators up to dimension six was worked out in ref. [4] and later has been extended up to dimension 9 [5-7]. The LEFT generalizes the well-known Fermi theory of weak interaction, which emerges as a special case if the LEFT is matched to the pure SM at the weak scale. Going beyond the SM, the complete matching of the LEFT to the SMEFT at dimension six was first worked out at tree level [4] and later extended to one loop [8], expressing the renormalized LEFT parameters in terms of SMEFT parameters. The dependence of the renormalized parameters on the renormalization scale is described by the renormalization-group equations (RGEs), which at one loop up to dimension six were calculated for the SMEFT in refs. [9-11] and for the LEFT in ref. [12]. Partial results for the RGEs were known previously and have been studied to higher loop orders [13-40].

Very strong constraints on the Wilson coefficients in the LEFT can be derived from precision observables at low energies. Of special interest are observables that are either forbidden or at least highly suppressed within the SM. One example are electric dipole moments of elementary or composite particles, which are sensitive probes of CP violation beyond the SM, a necessary ingredient in explanations of the baryon asymmetry of the universe [41-44]. CP violation beyond the SM is described in the LEFT in terms of higherdimension effective operators that contain explicit factors of  $\gamma_5$  or the Levi-Civita symbol. The definition of these objects cannot be continued analytically in the number of space-time dimensions, which leads to the well-known difficulties with dimensional regularization [45]. The only scheme proven to be consistent to all loop orders is the original 't Hooft-Veltman (HV) scheme [46, 47]. Typically, this scheme leads to spurious symmetry-breaking terms, which can be restored by finite renormalizations. This is mandatory in the case of chiral gauge theories, where the symmetry-breaking terms violate gauge invariance. In vector-like gauge theories, global chiral symmetry is broken by the regulator: this is less severe, since symmetry-breaking terms cancel in relations between observables and do not render the theory inconsistent. However, the Ward identities following from the global symmetry are broken in the modified minimal subtraction  $(\overline{MS})$  scheme and are restored only through finite renormalizations.

In this paper, we work out the renormalization of the LEFT at one-loop order in the HV scheme up to dimension six. We extend the physical operator basis by a complete set of evanescent operators that vanish in four space-time dimensions, but are generated at one loop in the HV scheme. We compute the finite counterterms to the physical operator coefficients that compensate both the insertion of evanescent operators in one-loop diagrams, as well as the spurious symmetry-breaking terms generated by the renormalizable part of the regularized Lagrangian. In the LEFT, global chiral symmetry is broken explicitly both by the fermion mass terms as well as higher-dimension effective operators. We disentangle those physical effects from the spurious symmetry-breaking terms due to the regulator by promoting mass matrices and Wilson coefficients to spurions with appropriate chiral transformations. In addition to achieving an effective separation of the physical sector from the unphysical evanescent sector, our renormalization scheme maintains chiral spurion symmetry in one-loop calculations in the LEFT and it allows us to avoid spurious chiral-symmetry-breaking terms, e.g., in one-loop matching calculations, which otherwise only cancel in the final relations between observables. Therefore, this establishes an HV scheme suitable for calculations at next-to-leading-log (NLL) accuracy that incorporates chiral invariance and separates the physical from the evanescent sector.

The article is structured as follows. In section 2, we define the Lagrangian of the LEFT, discuss power counting, the appearance of redundant or nuisance operators, as well as the background-field method, which allows us to avoid gauge-variant counterterms. The explicit list of redundant operators is provided in appendix D.2. In section 3, we define our chirally invariant renormalization scheme based on the HV scheme. This involves the complete definition of evanescent operators, provided explicitly in appendix D.3, as well as the definition of finite renormalizations that compensate the evanescent insertions as well as spurious symmetry-breaking effects. In section 4, we discuss the renormalization procedure as well as the non-linear field redefinition of the theta terms and check that our calculation in dimensional regularization correctly reproduces the chiral anomaly. In section 5, we discuss our results and the cross-checks that we have performed, before we conclude in section 6. In addition to the operator basis, the appendices summarize our conventions. The explicit results of our calculations consist of very long expressions that are provided as supplementary material.

# 2 LEFT

#### 2.1 Lagrangian and power counting

The Lagrangian of the LEFT is given by  $^{1}$ 

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{LEFT}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD+QED}} + \mathcal{L}_{\nu} + \sum_{d \ge 5} \sum_{i} L_{i}^{(d)} \mathcal{O}_{i}^{(d)}, \qquad (2.1)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We denote the operator dimension by d, while D stands for the number of space-time dimensions.

where the QCD and QED part is defined by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD+QED}} = -\frac{1}{4} G^{A}_{\mu\nu} G^{A\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \theta_{\text{QCD}} \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2} G^{A}_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{G}^{A\mu\nu} + \theta_{\text{QED}} \frac{e^2}{32\pi^2} F_{\mu\nu} \widetilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + \sum_{\psi=u,d,e} \overline{\psi} \left( i \not\!\!D - M_{\psi} P_L - M^{\dagger}_{\psi} P_R \right) \psi , \qquad (2.2)$$

with covariant derivative  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + igT^A G^A_{\mu} + ieQA_{\mu}$ , where g and e are the gauge couplings.<sup>2</sup> The photon and gluon field-strength tensors are

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}, \quad G^A_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}G^A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}G^A_{\mu} - gf^{ABC}G^B_{\mu}G^C_{\nu}$$
(2.3)

and the dual field-strength tensors are defined by

$$\widetilde{F}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} F_{\lambda\sigma} , \quad \widetilde{G}^{A\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} G^A_{\lambda\sigma}$$
(2.4)

with the Levi-Civita symbol normalized to  $\epsilon_{0123} = +1$ . We include only left-handed neutrinos with a lepton-number-violating Majorana mass term<sup>3</sup>

$$\mathcal{L}_{\nu} = \bar{\nu}_L i \partial \!\!\!/ \nu_L - \frac{1}{2} \left( \nu_L^T C M_{\nu} \nu_L + \bar{\nu}_L M_{\nu}^{\dagger} C \bar{\nu}_L^T \right) \,. \tag{2.5}$$

By introducing the Majorana neutrino

$$\nu_M := \nu_L + C \bar{\nu}_L^T, \quad \nu_M = C \bar{\nu}_M^T, \qquad (2.6)$$

we can rewrite the neutrino Lagrangian as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \bar{\nu}_M \left( i \partial \!\!\!/ - M_{\nu} P_L - M_{\nu}^{\dagger} P_R \right) \nu_M \,. \tag{2.7}$$

The LEFT Lagrangian contains an infinite tower of higher-dimension local operators in addition to the renormalizable Lagrangian of QCD and QED. The complete non-redundant set of gauge-invariant effective operators at dimension five and six was classified in ref. [4]. For convenience, we reproduce it in appendix D.1. By now, the operator basis is known up to mass dimension 9 [5–7].

The organization of the LEFT Lagrangian in terms of canonical mass dimensions follows from the power counting, which is dictated by the expansion parameter p/v or m/v, where v denotes the electroweak scale, p an external momentum, and m a mass of the degrees of freedom retained in the theory. A graph with insertions of effective operators of dimension  $d_i \geq 5$  has LEFT dimension

$$d = 4 + \sum_{i} (d_i - 4).$$
(2.8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The SU(3) generator  $T^A$  is in the fundamental representation for *u*- and *d*-quarks and zero when acting on the leptons *e*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Since we do not explicitly specify the number of neutrino species, the LEFT also trivially covers the case of additional right-handed neutrinos [48, 49]: these can be rewritten in terms of  $\nu_{Rp}^c = C \bar{\nu}_{Rp}^T$ , which are left-chiral fields and can be included in the flavor vector  $\nu_L$ . This only affects the notion of lepton-number violation, since the charge-conjugated right-handed neutrinos carry lepton number -1. We thank A. V. Manohar for bringing this to our attention.

In the present work, we will consider effects up to dimension six in the power counting, which include single insertions of dimension-six operators, as well as double insertions of dimension-five operators [12]. If the LEFT is matched to the SMEFT at the electroweak scale, the SMEFT power counting is inherited, which is an expansion in the small parameter  $p/\Lambda$  or  $v/\Lambda$ , where  $\Lambda$  is the scale of new physics. At leading-log accuracy, double-insertions of dimension-five operators are of dimension 8 in the SMEFT power counting, because the treelevel matching only contributes to the dimension-five dipole-operator coefficients with terms of  $\mathcal{O}(v/\Lambda^2)$ . Therefore, double insertions of dipole operators in the LEFT are of the order

$$\left(\frac{v}{\Lambda^2}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{v^2} \times \frac{v^4}{\Lambda^4} \,, \tag{2.9}$$

where the first factor reflects the LEFT dimension 6 and the second factor shows the SMEFT dimension 8. At NLL, the one-loop matching up to dimension six [8] leads to corrections to the dipole-operator coefficients of the order  $\mathcal{O}(m/v^2)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(m/\Lambda^2)$ . Therefore, also at NLL double-dipole insertions are suppressed beyond dimension 6, either in the SMEFT or the LEFT power counting. In the following we will stay agnostic about the matching at the weak scale and treat dipole-operator coefficients as  $\mathcal{O}(1/v)$ .

## 2.2 Nuisance operators

The divergences or finite matching contributions encountered in the calculation of off-shell Green's functions do not all have the form of the canonical LEFT operator basis, but they also contain terms corresponding to operators that vanish by the classical equations of motion (EOM). These operators can be removed from the basis with appropriate field redefinitions and hence their contribution to observables are redundant. In general, the renormalization of effective operators involves three different types of counterterms [50–54]:

- I. gauge-invariant operators without ghost fields that do not vanish by the classical EOM,
- IIa. gauge-invariant "nuisance operators" without ghost fields that vanish by the classical EOM,
- IIb. additional gauge-variant nuisance operators allowed by the solutions of Ward-Slavnov-Taylor identities, which can be constructed as BRST variations of operators with ghost number -1.

The operators of class IIb can be avoided by making use of the background-field method [55, 56], leaving gauge-invariant EOM operators of class IIa. To linear order in the operator insertions, nuisance operators proportional to the classical EOM do not contribute to S-matrix elements. At higher orders in the power counting, multiple insertions of EOM operators can give non-vanishing contributions. In this case, the class-II operators are still redundant, but they should be removed by applying field redefinitions, which lead to shifts in the coefficients of higher-dimension operators.

We choose to work with a redundant set of operators, where the physical LEFT operator basis is extended by operators with additional covariant derivatives. The complete list is provided in appendix D.2. The class-IIa nuisance operators correspond to linear combinations of these derivative operators and the physical operators given in appendix D.1. With this choice of the operator basis, the identification of the divergences is more direct, but the field redefinitions that remove the redundant operators also lead to a shift in the coefficients of physical operators of the same and even lower mass dimension, as will be discussed in section 4.2.

#### 2.3 Background-field method

We will derive the one-loop counterterms by calculating diagrammatically the one-particle irreducible (1PI) off-shell Green's functions. In order to perform loop calculations in the LEFT, we need to fix the gauge, which in general only leaves BRST invariance as a residual symmetry and requires the introduction of class-IIb counterterms. In order to avoid this complication, it is convenient to employ the background-field method [55, 56]: all fields are split into the sum of a classical background field  $\hat{F}$  and a quantum field F that is the integration variable in the functional integral. The gauge of the quantum gluon and photon fields are fixed by [55]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm GF}^{\rm QCD+QED} = -\frac{1}{2\xi_g} \left( G^A \right)^2 - \frac{1}{2\xi_\gamma} \left( \partial^\mu A_\mu \right)^2 , \quad G^A = \partial^\mu G^A_\mu - g f^{ABC} \hat{G}^B_\mu G^{C\mu}$$
(2.10)

and the corresponding ghost Lagrangian reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm FP}^{\rm QCD} = -\bar{\eta}^A \bigg[ \Box \delta^{AB} + g \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\mu} f^{ACB} (\hat{G}^{C\mu} + G^{C\mu}) - g f^{ACB} \hat{G}^C_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} + g^2 f^{ACE} f^{EDB} \hat{G}^C_{\mu} (\hat{G}^{D\mu} + G^{D\mu}) \bigg] \eta^B , \qquad (2.11)$$

while QED ghosts decouple and can be ignored. Even after fixing the quantum-field gauge, the Lagrangian remains invariant under gauge transformations of the classical background fields. The 1PI Green's functions of background fields are manifestly background-gauge invariant and allow us to determine the counterterms for all gauge-invariant operators. Gauge-variant nuisance operators of class IIb are not required for the renormalization of background-field Green's functions. In order to arrive at the results in terms of the physical LEFT operator basis, the redundant operators need to be removed via field redefinitions. It should be noted that even when using the background-field method off-shell Green's functions are unphysical quantities: although class-IIa counterterms correspond to gauge-invariant operators, in general they can depend on the quantum-gauge parameters.

In practice, employing the background-field gauge in the LEFT merely requires the modification of the three- and four-gluon vertices as in pure QCD [55]. For the fermion and photon fields, no distinction between background and quantum fields is necessary since all vertices are unaltered, including the vertex rules for effective operators.

# 3 Scheme definition

#### 3.1 Dimensional regularization

We use dimensional regularization in  $D = 4 - 2\varepsilon$  space-time dimensions. The LEFT operator basis is defined in terms of chiral fermions. The chiral nature of the electroweak interaction is imprinted in the Wilson coefficients of higher-dimension operators, which lead to Feynman rules involving  $\gamma_5$ . In addition, the *CP*-violating three-gluon operator involves the Levi-Civita tensor  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}$ . Both these symbols are intrinsically four-dimensional objects and their treatment in dimensional regularization is notoriously difficult, see ref. [45] for a review. The only scheme that is proven to be mathematically consistent to higher loop orders is the original scheme by 't Hooft and Veltman [46, 47]. In connection with minimal subtraction and related schemes (such as  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ ), the HV scheme leads to a spurious breaking of chiral symmetry, which however can be restored by finite renormalizations, as will be discussed in section 3.3.

The HV scheme is defined as follows: the Levi-Civita symbol and  $\gamma_5$  are treated as purely four-dimensional objects, see appendix A. The metric tensor  $g^{\mu\nu}$  in D dimensions is split into a four-dimensional part  $\bar{g}^{\mu\nu}$  and a part  $\hat{g}^{\mu\nu}$  projecting onto  $-2\varepsilon$  dimensions

$$g^{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}^{\mu\nu} + \hat{g}^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{3.1}$$

which satisfy

$$\bar{g}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\bar{g}^{\nu\lambda} = \bar{g}^{\mu\lambda}, \quad \hat{g}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\hat{g}^{\nu\lambda} = \hat{g}^{\mu\lambda}, \quad \bar{g}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\hat{g}^{\nu\lambda} = 0, \quad \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}\bar{g}_{\nu\mu} = 4, \quad \hat{g}^{\mu\nu}\hat{g}_{\nu\mu} = -2\varepsilon.$$
(3.2)

Projections of D-dimensional gamma matrices are defined by the contractions

$$\bar{\gamma}^{\mu} = \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}\gamma_{\nu} , \quad \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} = \hat{g}^{\mu\nu}\gamma_{\nu} , \qquad (3.3)$$

and analogous projections are used for arbitrary Lorentz vectors and tensors.

We define the LEFT Lagrangian in D dimensions as follows. The renormalizable part is defined by directly promoting eqs. (2.2) and (2.7) to D dimensions. In particular, the kinetic terms of the gauge fields as well as the fermion gauge-kinetic terms are defined as in eqs. (2.2) and (2.7) with Lorentz indices running over D dimensions, leading to the standard form for propagators and gauge vertices in D space-time dimensions. Importantly, the Lagrangian remains invariant under (background-field) gauge transformations in D dimensions.<sup>4</sup> Due to the contractions with the Levi-Civita tensor, the Lorentz indices in the theta terms only run over four dimensions.

The higher-dimension operators are defined by keeping the physical operator basis of ref. [4] strictly in four space-time dimensions.<sup>5</sup> In the case of vector-type four-fermion operators, this convention automatically coincides with the definition of the operators in terms of chiral fields, since

$$P_R \gamma^\mu P_L = \bar{\gamma}^\mu P_L \,. \tag{3.4}$$

In the case of tensor structures, we define the Lorentz indices in physical operators to run only over four dimensions, i.e., we replace the symbol  $\sigma^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2}[\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}]$  by its four-dimensional counterpart  $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2}[\bar{\gamma}^{\mu}, \bar{\gamma}^{\nu}]$ . Defining operators with tensorial bilinears in terms of chiral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A different convention is possible but it would lead to gauge-symmetry-breaking terms in intermediate steps of the calculation due to a gauge-variant evanescent sector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>If one would keep all interactions in four space-time dimensions the scheme would have the attractive feature that factorizable graphs do not contribute to RGEs after subtraction of sub-divergences at any loop order [57].

fields and  $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$  instead of  $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$  would differ from our convention by evanescent terms. The same applies to the dimension-six three-gluon operators, where we restrict the summed indices to run only over four dimensions. Our convention for the basis is explicitly given in appendix D.1. We use the same convention for the on-shell redundant operators listed in appendix D.2, i.e., all Lorentz indices only run over four space-time dimensions, as indicated by bars. Note that these scheme definitions are a convention and many different choices are possible. The final result for relations between observables is independent of these choices.

Due to the peculiarities of the HV scheme, we will *not* work with MS, as we will discuss in the following. The complete specification of the scheme incorporates the definition of evanescent operators, which will be given in section 3.2, as well as the definition of additional finite renormalizations as specified in section 3.3.

#### 3.2 Evanescent operators

When calculating loops in the regularized theory, one encounters divergences that correspond to evanescent operators, i.e., operators that vanish when the regulator is removed. In the HV scheme, most of the evanescent operators can be chosen to contain terms explicitly projected onto the evanescent sub-space, e.g., evanescent Dirac matrices  $\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}$  or in general Lorentz indices summed over  $-2\varepsilon$  dimensions. The appearance of evanescent terms has two important consequences. First, their definition is part of the renormalization scheme and affects the physical sector, starting at one loop for the finite terms and at two loops for divergent terms. Second, while tree-level matrix elements of evanescent operators vanish in four space-time dimensions, the insertions of evanescent operators into loop diagrams can lead to a physical effect: traces of terms of rank  $-2\varepsilon$  can combine with a  $1/\varepsilon$  divergence of a loop integral to give a finite one-loop contribution. Starting at two loops, the divergent parts are also affected. It is desirable to avoid the mixing of unphysical coefficients of evanescent operators into the coefficients of the physical operators. This is achieved by abandoning a naive pure  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  scheme and by performing a finite renormalization of the coefficients of the physical operators that compensates the insertion of evanescent operators [14, 15, 18].

A term of the form  $\varepsilon \times \mathcal{O}_i$  (with  $\mathcal{O}_i$  a physical operator) is evanescent and can be used to modify the basis of evanescent operators and therefore the renormalization scheme [18]. This does not imply that evanescent operators in general are of  $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$  (or  $\mathcal{O}(\hbar)$  times a physical operator): since evanescent structures are of rank  $-2\varepsilon$ , the insertion of two evanescent operators can still lead to a finite physical one-loop effect. Evanescent operators are generated not only by renormalization but also in matching calculations (including scheme changes), where they potentially appear already at tree level [8, 58, 59]. In order to enable a consistent perturbative treatment of evanescent terms, the coefficients of evanescent operators (but not the operators themselves) need to be suppressed by a power counting. This can be the loop expansion or the EFT power counting. In order to be as general as possible and to cover the cases of evanescent operators generated in a tree-level matching, we will assign the coefficients of evanescent operators a suppression by the LEFT power counting.

#### 3.2.1 Bosonic and fermion-bilinear operators

We supplement the LEFT Lagrangian by evanescent operators  $\mathcal{E}_i^{(d)}$  and label the corresponding coefficients as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{evan}} = \sum_{d \ge 4} \sum_{i} K_i^{(d)} \mathcal{E}_i^{(d)} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

In the case of operators with at most two fermion fields, we provide an exhaustive list of evanescent operators in tables 5, 6, and 7 in appendix D.3. For the renormalization of the physical sector of the LEFT, it is most practical to assign a loop order to the coefficients  $K_i^{(d)}$ , as the evanescent operators only arise as counterterms to loops with insertions of physical operators. However, having matching calculations in mind that can potentially generate evanescent operators at tree level, we do not assign a loop order to the coefficients but only the LEFT power counting, i.e., we assume  $K_i^{(d)} = \mathcal{O}(v^{4-d})$ . An exception are the evanescent operators of mass dimension four, listed in table 5. A perturbative treatment requires a suppression of their coefficient by some power counting. We assign by hand  $K_i^{(4)} = \mathcal{O}(v^{-1})$ . This is compatible with the LEFT renormalization, where the d = 4 evanescent counterterms are generated only if higher-dimension operators are inserted into loop diagrams. We assume that also in a matching calculation, the d = 4 evanescent operators are generated only with the appropriate power-counting suppression.

With this power-counting assignment, we include all effects up to dimension six in the LEFT expansion, corresponding to  $\mathcal{O}(v^{-2})$ . We perform a finite renormalization of the coefficients of physical operators that compensates the finite contribution of loop diagrams with insertions of evanescent operators, in particular single insertions of dimension-six evanescent operators as well as single and double insertions of dimension-five and -four evanescent operators. Due to the large number of operators, this results in very long expressions that are provided as supplementary material; see appendix B for the conventions.

We note that when taking the physical operator basis as the starting point for the renormalization of the LEFT, one can assign a loop factor to the evanescent operator coefficients, hence single insertions of evanescent operators in one-loop diagrams correspond to a two-loop effect, while double insertions would become relevant only at the three-loop level, see appendix C. Not all of the operators listed in tables 5, 6, and 7 are required independently as counterterms to one-loop insertions of physical operators, e.g., no divergences of the form of  $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma'}$  or  $\mathcal{E}_{G'}$  are generated [60].

#### 3.2.2 Evanescent four-fermion operators and Fierz relations

In loop calculations, we encounter four-fermion structures with higher tensor products of Dirac matrices, which in four space-time dimensions could be reduced to the physical LEFT basis. Since the Dirac algebra in  $D = 4 - 2\varepsilon$  dimensions is infinite dimensional, these tensor products give rise to an infinite set of evanescent operators. The four-fermion structures encountered in the loop calculation can be decomposed as follows. After the loop integration, all remaining contractions are between Dirac matrices in the two different Dirac chains. Dirac matrices in D dimensions are split as  $\gamma^{\mu} = \bar{\gamma}^{\mu} + \hat{\gamma}^{\mu}$ , such that only contractions between two four-dimensional or two  $-2\varepsilon$ -dimensional Dirac matrices remain. Using the

Clifford algebra, the matrices in each Dirac chain can be ordered identically, with evanescent matrices preceding the four-dimensional ones. Tensor products with more than two Dirac matrices belonging to the four-dimensional sub-space can be further simplified by making use of the Chisholm identity

$$\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda} = \bar{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{g}_{\nu\lambda} - \bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{g}_{\mu\lambda} + \bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} - i\bar{\gamma}^{\sigma}\gamma_{5}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}\,,\tag{3.6}$$

which holds in the HV scheme [61]. Therefore, a basis of four-fermion structures is given by four-dimensional scalar, vector, and  $\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}$ -tensor structures, together with the evanescent structures

$$E^{S(n),LL} = (P_L \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_n} P_L) \otimes [P_L \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_n} P_L],$$

$$E^{S(n),LR} = (P_L \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_n} P_L) \otimes [P_R \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_n} P_R],$$

$$E^{V(n),LL} = (P_R \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_n} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} P_L) \otimes [P_R \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_n} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} P_L],$$

$$E^{V(n),LR} = (P_R \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_n} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} P_L) \otimes [P_L \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_n} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} P_R],$$

$$E^{T(n),LL} = (P_L \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}^{\mu_n} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda} P_L) \otimes [P_L \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_1} \cdots \hat{\gamma}_{\mu_n} \bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda} P_L],$$
(3.7)

as well as their parity-conjugated versions. The parentheses and brackets abbreviate Dirac indices on the fermion bilinears. The evanescent four-fermion LEFT operators can then be chosen in analogy to the four-dimensional operators given in appendix D.1, with Dirac structures replaced by the evanescent structures of eq. (3.7).

In the case of baryon-number-violating operators, we do not use eq. (3.7) but instead adopt the convention of ref. [15], which in addition involves an antisymmetrization of the evanescent Lorentz indices. Without this antisymmetrization, the projection onto the physical operators becomes more cumbersome in the *B*-violating sector, as illustrated by the following relation:

$$(\psi_p^T C \hat{\gamma}^\mu \hat{\gamma}^\nu \psi_r) (\bar{\psi}_s \hat{\gamma}_\mu \hat{\gamma}_\nu \psi_t) = -(\psi_r^T C \hat{\gamma}^\mu \hat{\gamma}^\nu \psi_p) (\bar{\psi}_s \hat{\gamma}_\mu \hat{\gamma}_\nu \psi_t) - 4\varepsilon (\psi_p^T C \psi_r) (\bar{\psi}_s \psi_t) , \qquad (3.8)$$

whereas

$$(\psi_{p}^{T}C\hat{\gamma}^{[\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu]}\psi_{r})(\bar{\psi}_{s}\hat{\gamma}_{[\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu]}\psi_{t}) = -(\psi_{r}^{T}C\hat{\gamma}^{[\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu]}\psi_{p})(\bar{\psi}_{s}\hat{\gamma}_{[\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu]}\psi_{t}).$$
(3.9)

With an antisymmetrization of the Lorentz indices, the projection onto the physical sector is simply achieved by dropping structures involving evanescent matrices  $\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}$ , while without antisymmetrization, this procedure is affected by the proper alignment of the *B*-violating fermion chains, taking into account eq. (3.8).

In the baryon-number-conserving sector, these complications do not arise and we use directly the evanescent structures (3.7) for the operator basis, without antisymmetrization of the evanescent indices. This choice results in a different scheme compared to applying the convention of ref. [15] also in the *B*-conserving sector, affecting finite one-loop effects and divergences at the two-loop level [18].

In the physical LEFT operator basis given in appendix D.1, all redundancies are removed in four space-time dimensions, including Fierz relations between different four-fermion operators [4]. The Fierz identities are satisfied in four space-time dimensions and in chiral notation they read

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}
(P_{R}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{R}\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}\right] = -(P_{R}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{R}\gamma_{\mu}P_{L}\right),\\
(P_{R}\gamma^{\mu}P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{L}\gamma_{\mu}P_{R}\right] = 2(P_{R})\otimes\left[P_{L}\right),\\
(P_{L}\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{L}\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{L}\right] = 8(P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{L}\right) - 4(P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{L}\right],\\
(P_{L}\sigma^{\mu\nu}P_{L})\otimes\left[P_{R}\sigma_{\mu\nu}P_{R}\right] = 0
\end{array}\right\}$$
for  $D = 4$ , (3.10)

where the minus sign from anticommuting the fermion fields is not included. Analogous relations hold for opposite chirality. Away from four space-time dimensions, the Fierz identities are not valid, even in the HV scheme. An exception is the last relation, which generalizes to

$$(P_L \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} P_L) \otimes [P_R \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} P_R] = 0, \qquad (3.11)$$

and can be derived using

$$\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\gamma_5 = -\frac{i}{2}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}\bar{\sigma}_{\alpha\beta}\,. \tag{3.12}$$

The other Fierz relations give rise to additional evanescent structures even in the HV scheme. We define

$$(P_R \gamma^{\mu} P_L) \otimes [P_R \gamma_{\mu} P_L] = -(P_R \gamma^{\mu} P_L] \otimes [P_R \gamma_{\mu} P_L) + E_{LL}^{(F1)},$$
  

$$(P_R \gamma^{\mu} P_L) \otimes [P_L \gamma_{\mu} P_R] = 2(P_R] \otimes [P_L) + E_{LR}^{(F1)},$$
  

$$(P_L \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} P_L) \otimes [P_L \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} P_L] = 8(P_L] \otimes [P_L) - 4(P_L) \otimes [P_L] + E_{LL}^{(F2)}$$
(3.13)

and analogous relations with opposite chirality. Note that in contrast to the NDR definitions in ref. [8], all Lorentz indices in eq. (3.13) are restricted to the four-dimensional sub-space, even for the vector structures without explicit bars due to eq. (3.4).

The appearance of Fierz-evanescent operators in eq. (3.13) might look surprising at first sight, since the repeated Lorentz indices only run over four dimensions. The reason is that the Fierz identities rely on a finite-dimensional representation of the Dirac algebra. In  $D = 4 - 2\varepsilon$ space-time dimensions, the Dirac algebra is infinite dimensional and even in the HV scheme, the Dirac matrices  $\bar{\gamma}^{\mu}$  cannot be represented as  $4 \times 4$  matrices, see ref. [54] for an explicit construction. The fact that the Fierz-evanescent operators in eq. (3.13) do not vanish in the HV scheme can be verified by calculating their insertions into Green's functions and the resulting finite renormalizations of physical operators. We find that these insertions do not lead to finite counterterms to fermion masses or dipole operators, but they generate a non-vanishing finite one-loop effect in four-fermion operators.

The explicit list of evanescent four-fermion operators required at one loop is given in tables 8, 9, 10, and 11 in appendix D.3.

#### 3.3 Chiral symmetry

In four space-time dimensions, the massless QCD and QED Lagrangian (2.2) exhibits a symmetry under the global chiral transformation

$$\begin{aligned} \psi_L &\mapsto U_L^{\psi} \psi_L, & \psi_R \mapsto U_R^{\psi} \psi_R, \\ \bar{\psi}_L &\mapsto \bar{\psi}_L U_L^{\psi\dagger}, & \bar{\psi}_R \mapsto \bar{\psi}_R U_R^{\psi\dagger}, & \psi = u, d, e, \end{aligned} \tag{3.14}$$

where  $U_L^{\psi}, U_R^{\psi} \in U(n_{\psi})$  are unitary  $n_{\psi} \times n_{\psi}$  matrices. At the quantum level, the U(1) axial symmetries are anomalously broken, but the flavor transformations remain a symmetry if the theta angles are transformed simultaneously to compensate the anomalous shift [62]:

$$\theta_{\text{QCD}} \mapsto \theta_{\text{QCD}} + \sum_{\psi=u,d} \arg \det(U_R^{\psi\dagger} U_L^{\psi}) ,$$
  
$$\theta_{\text{QED}} \mapsto \theta_{\text{QED}} + \sum_{\psi=u,d} 2N_c \mathsf{q}_{\psi}^2 \arg \det(U_R^{\psi\dagger} U_L^{\psi}) + 2\mathsf{q}_e^2 \arg \det(U_R^{e\dagger} U_L^{e}) .$$
(3.15)

The kinetic term of the neutrino Lagrangian is invariant under the global  $U(n_{\nu})$  transformation

$$\nu_L \mapsto U_L^{\nu} \nu_L \,, \quad \bar{\nu}_L \mapsto \bar{\nu}_L U_L^{\nu\dagger} \,. \tag{3.16}$$

For non-vanishing mass matrices, chiral symmetry is explicitly broken, but it can be artificially restored by promoting the mass matrices to spurion fields with the chiral transformation

$$M_{\psi} \mapsto U_{R}^{\psi} M_{\psi} U_{L}^{\psi\dagger}, \qquad \qquad M_{\psi}^{\dagger} \mapsto U_{L}^{\psi} M_{\psi}^{\dagger} U_{R}^{\psi\dagger}, \qquad \qquad \psi = u, d, e,$$
$$M_{\nu} \mapsto U_{L}^{\nu*} M_{\nu} U_{L}^{\nu\dagger}, \qquad \qquad M_{\nu}^{\dagger} \mapsto U_{L}^{\nu} M_{\nu}^{\dagger} U_{L}^{\nu T}. \qquad (3.17)$$

Similarly, the Lagrangian terms involving higher-dimension operators can be made chirally invariant by also promoting their Wilson coefficients to spurions with appropriate transformations, e.g.,

$$L_{e\gamma} \mapsto U_L^e L_{e\gamma} U_R^{e\dagger},$$

$$L_{ee}^{V,LL} \mapsto L_{ee}^{V,LL} U_L^e U_L^{e\dagger} U_L^e U_L^{e\dagger} U_L^e U_L^{e\dagger}.$$

$$(3.18)$$

The combined transformation of the chiral fields, theta terms, and spurions is a symmetry of the effective theory and is respected by the perturbative expansion: terms that break this symmetry need to cancel in relations between observables.

Dimensional regularization in the HV scheme leads to a violation of chiral invariance in D dimensions, as is required by a scheme that reproduces the triangle anomaly. Besides the hard chiral anomaly, the HV scheme combined with  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  renormalization also leads to spurious anomalies that break chiral symmetry in the spurion sense defined above. Consider the fermion gauge-kinetic term, written in terms of chiral fields:

$$\bar{\psi}i\not\!\!\!D\psi = \bar{\psi}_L i\not\!\!\!D\psi_L + \bar{\psi}_R i\not\!\!\!D\psi_R + \bar{\psi}_L i\not\!\!\!D\psi_R + \bar{\psi}_R i\not\!\!\!D\psi_L \,. \tag{3.19}$$

Each term is gauge invariant, but the evanescent contributions  $\bar{\psi}_L i \hat{D} \psi_R$  and  $\bar{\psi}_R i \hat{D} \psi_L$  violate chiral symmetry.<sup>6</sup> They contribute both to the fermion propagators and the fermiongauge-boson vertices, resulting in spurious effects that break chiral symmetry. At one loop, contractions of evanescent symmetry-breaking terms can be multiplied by a divergence of a loop integral, resulting in a finite symmetry-breaking contribution. At the two-loop level, they also affect the  $1/\varepsilon$  divergences.

As is well known [46, 47, 54, 60, 63–68], these spurious symmetry-breaking effects can be cured order by order in the perturbative expansion by the addition of appropriate symmetry-restoring counterterms: these finite contributions are local as they come from UV-divergent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In the case of neutrinos, the evanescent kinetic terms also violate lepton number.

parts of loop integrals. This is similar to the procedure in chiral gauge theories, where the symmetry-breaking terms violate the Slavnov-Taylor and Ward identities that follow from gauge invariance. There, a restoration of the symmetry is mandatory in order to maintain consistency of the theory. In the present context, the problem is less severe: despite the presence of chiral fields, the LEFT is not a chiral gauge theory. The gauge interactions of the LEFT are the vector-like QCD and QED interactions, i.e., left- and right-chiral fields are in the same representation of the gauge groups. The regulator does not break gauge invariance but only affects global chiral spurion symmetry. Therefore, the restoration of the global symmetry is a pure choice of renormalization scheme and not strictly necessary for a consistent treatment of the theory, since the symmetry-breaking terms cancel in relations between observables. It is still desirable to maintain chiral symmetry in intermediate steps of the calculation in order to avoid an intricate cancellation between matching coefficients, RGEs, and matrix elements. This can be achieved by finite renormalizations of the coefficients of gauge-invariant operators, which compensate the symmetry-breaking terms and restore chiral spurion symmetry.

We define our renormalization scheme as follows: we stay as close to  $\overline{\text{MS}}$  as possible by subtracting the pure  $1/\varepsilon$  divergences, as well as the following two finite contributions.

- 1. We perform a finite renormalization of the coefficients of the physical LEFT operators that cancels the explicit insertion of evanescent operators into loop diagrams, as explained in section 3.2.
- 2. We apply an additional finite renormalization of the coefficients of the physical LEFT operators, which only depends on the physical operator coefficients and exactly cancels the spurious terms that break chiral symmetry.

The symmetry-breaking terms are determined as follows. We calculate the one-loop contributions to 1PI background-field Green's functions with physical operator insertions up to finite  $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^0)$  terms. We then apply a chiral spurion transformation and extract all noninvariant terms. This requires to keep the full flavor structure of the mass matrices, in particular one has to distinguish between  $M_{\psi}$  and  $M_{\psi}^{\dagger}$ . Since the finite symmetry-breaking terms arise from the combination of the evanescent part of the fermion gauge-kinetic terms with a UV divergence, they are local and well-defined even for generic (non-diagonal and non-Hermitian) mass matrices, which can be treated as mass insertions. To this end, one can either directly treat the masses as interaction terms, apply a Taylor expansion to the fermion propagators, or use an exact propagator decomposition. We define the fermion propagator with generic mass matrices as

$$S_{\psi}(p) = i \left( p - M_{\psi} P_L - M_{\psi}^{\dagger} P_R \right)^{-1} .$$
 (3.20)

Denoting the loop momentum by  $\ell$  and an external momentum by p, we use a Taylor expansion before integration:

$$S_{\psi}(l+p) = i \left[ 1 - \frac{\ell}{\ell^2} \left( -\not p + M_{\psi} P_L + M_{\psi}^{\dagger} P_R \right) \right]^{-1} \frac{\ell}{\ell^2}$$
$$= i \left[ \sum_k \left( \frac{\ell}{\ell^2} \left( -\not p + M_{\psi} P_L + M_{\psi}^{\dagger} P_R \right) \right)^k \right] \frac{\ell}{\ell^2}.$$
(3.21)

Expanding in both masses and momenta does not affect the UV divergences of loop integrals, but introduces IR divergences and renders all integrals scaleless. However, at one loop it is straightforward to distinguish between UV and IR divergences. As an alternative, we apply the exact propagator decomposition [69, 70]

$$S_{\psi}(\ell + p) = S_{m}(\ell) - iS_{m}(\ell) \left( M_{\psi}P_{L} + M_{\psi}^{\dagger}P_{R} - m - p \right) S_{\psi}(\ell + p), \qquad (3.22)$$

where

$$S_m(p) = i \left( \not p - m \right)^{-1} = \frac{i(\not p + m)}{p^2 - m^2}$$
(3.23)

depends on an artificial common mass parameter m. The decomposition (3.22) and the corresponding version for gauge-boson propagators can be used to reduce all one-loop integrals to massive tadpole integrals plus integrals with a smaller degree of divergence, which after recursive application of the decomposition eventually become finite. This allows one to easily extract the UV-divergent parts of loop integrals for arbitrary mass matrices. The dependence on the artificial mass parameter m drops out of the final results. We checked that we obtain the same results with the Taylor expansion and the tadpole decomposition. When neglecting UV-finite parts of loop integrals, a subtlety arises with the insertion of Fierz-evanescent operators, where one needs to be careful to assign identical momentum routing for the two contributions with different Fierz ordering.

An improved tadpole decomposition and an efficient algorithm based on Taylor expansion is described ref. [71]. A slightly different version of the tadpole decomposition has been used in ref. [57].

## 4 Renormalization and field redefinitions

#### 4.1 Renormalization procedure

We start with the bare LEFT Lagrangian, where we extend the basis to include EOMredundant operators  $\mathcal{O}_i^{\text{red}}$  as well as evanescent operators  $\mathcal{E}_i$ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{LEFT}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}+\text{QED}} + \mathcal{L}_{\nu} + \sum_{i} L_{i}\mathcal{O}_{i} + \sum_{i} L_{i}^{\text{red}}\mathcal{O}_{i}^{\text{red}} + \sum_{i} K_{i}\mathcal{E}_{i}.$$
 (4.1)

We then compute the off-shell 1PI Green's functions of the bare background fields. In order to obtain a finite result, we renormalize the parameters of the Lagrangian

$$e = \mu^{\varepsilon} Z_{e} e^{r} = \mu^{\varepsilon} (e^{r}(\mu) + e^{\text{ct}}),$$
  

$$g = \mu^{\varepsilon} Z_{g} g^{r} = \mu^{\varepsilon} (g^{r}(\mu) + g^{\text{ct}}),$$
  

$$M_{\psi} = M_{\psi}^{r}(\mu) + M_{\psi}^{\text{ct}},$$
  

$$X_{i} = \mu^{n_{i}\varepsilon} (X_{i}^{r}(\mu) + X_{i}^{\text{ct}}), \quad X = L, L^{\text{red}}, K$$
(4.2)

as well as the background fields:

$$A_{\mu} = Z_A^{1/2} A_{\mu}^r, \quad G_{\mu}^A = Z_G^{1/2} G_{\mu}^{A,r}, \quad \psi_L = Z_{\psi,L}^{1/2} \psi_L^r \quad \psi_R = Z_{\psi,R}^{1/2} \psi_R^r, \tag{4.3}$$

where  $Z_{\psi,L}^{1/2}$  and  $Z_{\psi,R}^{1/2}$  are Hermitian matrices in flavor space. The powers  $n_i$  of the renormalization scale in eq. (4.2) are fixed by requiring that the Wilson coefficients have integer mass dimension even in D space-time dimensions. Schematically, for a term in the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} \supset X_i(\psi^{N_i^{\psi}} A_{\mu}^{N_i^A} \partial^{N_i^{\partial}} M^{N_i^M}), \qquad (4.4)$$

the coefficient of the operator has mass dimension

$$[X_i] = D - N_i^{\psi} \frac{D-1}{2} - N_i^A \frac{D-2}{2} - N_i^{\partial} - N_i^M, \qquad (4.5)$$

hence  $n_i = N_i^{\psi} + N_i^A - 2$ . E.g., for the physical operator coefficients up to dimension six, we have

$$\begin{split} [L_{\psi\gamma}] &= [L_{\psi G}] = -1 + \varepsilon , \\ [L_G] &= [L_{\widetilde{G}}] = -2 + \varepsilon , \\ [L_{\psi^4}] &= -2 + 2\varepsilon . \end{split} \tag{4.6}$$

Since the background-field method preserves gauge invariance, one finds  $Z_e Z_A^{1/2} = 1$  and  $Z_g Z_G^{1/2} = 1$ . There is no need to renormalize the quantum fields [55]. At this stage of the calculation, the 1PI off-shell Green's functions of renormalized background fields are finite. As described in sections 3.2 and 3.3, we do not use  $\overline{\text{MS}}$ , but apply finite renormalizations that restore spurion chiral symmetry and compensate the physical effect of evanescent-operator insertions. In general, the counterterms can be written as

$$X_{i}^{\text{ct}} = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{l} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^{n}} \frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{l}} X_{i}^{(l,n)}(e^{r}(\mu), g^{r}(\mu), \{M_{\psi}^{r}(\mu)\}, \{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\}, \{L_{j'}^{\text{red}, r}(\mu)\}, \{K_{k}^{r}(\mu)\}), \quad (4.7)$$

where l denotes the loop order and with n = 0 we include finite renormalizations. In the following, we will drop the superscript r for simplicity.

Here, we only consider the one-loop counterterms, which we write as

$$\delta_{\rm div}(X_i) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} X_i^{(1,1)}(e, g, \{M_{\psi}\}, \{L_j\}, \{L_{j'}^{\rm red}\}, \{K_k\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\chi}(X_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} X_{i,\chi}^{(1,0)}(e, g, \{M_{\psi}\}, \{L_j\}, \{L_{j'}^{\rm red}\}, \{K_k\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(X_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} X_{i,\rm ev}^{(1,0)}(e, g, \{M_{\psi}\}, \{L_j\}, \{L_{j'}^{\rm red}\}, \{K_k\}), \qquad (4.8)$$

where the finite renormalizations  $X_i^{(1,0)} = X_{i,\chi}^{(1,0)} + X_{i,ev}^{(1,0)}$  are split into the terms that restore spurion chiral symmetry and terms that compensate evanescent insertions. Several comments are in order.

• As will be discussed in section 4.2, the EOM-redundant operators  $\mathcal{O}_i^{\text{red}}$  can be removed by appropriate field redefinitions, which shift all the Wilson coefficients and in particular allow us to set  $L_i^{\text{red}} = 0$ . These field redefinitions can be applied order by order in the loop expansion, hence we do not need to insert EOM-redundant operators into loop diagrams and we can drop the dependence of the counterterms on  $L_i^{\text{red}}$ .

- The divergent physical counterterms do not depend on the coefficients of evanescent operators: one-loop insertions of evanescent operators only generate finite physical effects as well as evanescent divergences. Although these evanescent divergences exist, we do not calculate them here, as they contribute neither at fixed one-loop nor at NLL order, see appendix C.
- By definition, the terms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\chi}(X_i)$  that restore chiral symmetry do not depend on evanescent coefficients, which instead contribute to  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\text{ev}}(X_i)$ .
- Finite renormalizations of evanescent operators are possible but not required. This is a scheme choice that becomes relevant only at higher loop orders [66].

In summary, in the present work we calculate the following LEFT counterterms:

$$\delta_{\rm div}(L_i) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_i^{(1,1)}(\{L_j\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm div}(L_i^{\rm red}) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_i^{\rm red,(1,1)}(\{L_j\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm div}(K_i) \Big|_{\{K_k=0\}} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} K_i^{(1,1)}(\{L_j\}, \{K_k=0\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\chi}(L_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\chi}^{(1,0)}(\{L_j\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(L_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\rm ev}^{\rm red,(1,0)}(\{L_j\}, \{K_k\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\chi}(L_i^{\rm red}) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\chi}^{\rm red,(1,0)}(\{L_j\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(L_i^{\rm red}) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\rm ev}^{\rm red,(1,0)}(\{L_j\}, \{K_k\}),$$
  
(4.9)

where for simplicity the physical parameters  $L_i$  collectively denote couplings, mass matrices, and higher-dimension operator coefficients.

In a final step, we will remove the redundancies in the operator basis by applying field redefinitions, which will shift  $L_i^{\text{red}}$  to zero, but at the same time induce shifts in the coefficients of the physical and evanescent operators.

#### 4.2 Equations of motion and non-linear field redefinitions

The classical fermion EOM at dimension four are given by [12]

$$(i\not\!\!D - M_{\psi}P_L - M_{\psi}^{\dagger}P_R)\psi = 0, \quad \bar{\psi}(i\not\!\!\overline{\not\!\!D} + M_{\psi}P_L + M_{\psi}^{\dagger}P_R) = 0, \quad \psi = u, d, e, \nu_M, \quad (4.10)$$

while the gauge-boson EOM read

$$(D_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A} = gj^{A\nu}, \quad \partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = ej_{\rm em}^{\nu}, \qquad (4.11)$$

where the currents are

$$j^{A\mu} = \sum_{\psi=u,d} \bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} T^{A} \psi , \quad j^{\mu}_{\rm em} = \sum_{\psi=u,d,e} \mathsf{q}_{\psi} \,\bar{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \psi , \qquad (4.12)$$

and the covariant derivative in the adjoint representation is given by  $(D_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A} = \partial_{\mu}G^{A\mu\nu} - gf^{ABC}G^{B}_{\mu}G^{C\mu\nu}$ .

In contrast to a renormalizable field theory, the EFT allows non-linear field redefinitions that respect the power counting. In addition to the linear field redefinitions (4.3) applied in the renormalization procedure, up to dimension-six effects we can perform the following redefinition of fermion fields [8]:

$$\psi_{L,R} \mapsto \psi_{L,R} + A^{\psi}_{L,R} \psi_{L,R} + B^{\psi}_{L,R} i \not\!\!\!D \psi_{R,L} + C^{\psi}_{L,R} (i \not\!\!\!D)^2 \psi_{L,R} + D^{\psi\gamma}_{L,R} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} \psi_{L,R} + D^{\psi g}_{L,R} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu} \psi_{L,R} , \qquad (4.13)$$

where  $A_{L,R}$ ,  $B_{L,R}$ ,  $C_{L,R}$ , and  $D_{L,R}^{\gamma,g}$  are generic matrices in flavor space and the term involving the QCD field-strength tensor is only present for quarks,  $\psi = u, d$ . In the case of neutrinos, the field redefinition reads

$$\nu_{L} \mapsto \nu_{L} + A^{\nu}\nu_{L} + B^{\nu}i\partial\!\!\!/\nu_{R} + C^{\nu}(i\partial\!\!\!/)^{2}\nu_{L} + D^{\nu\gamma}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}\nu_{L},$$
  

$$\nu_{R} \mapsto \nu_{R} + (A^{\nu})^{*}\nu_{R} + (B^{\nu})^{*}i\bar{\partial\!\!\!/}\nu_{L} + (C^{\nu})^{*}(i\bar{\partial\!\!\!/})^{2}\nu_{R} - (D^{\nu\gamma})^{*}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}\nu_{R}.$$
(4.14)

The gauge fields can be redefined up to dimension-six effects according to

$$A_{\mu} \mapsto A_{\mu} + b^{\gamma} \partial^{\nu} F_{\nu\mu} + \sum_{\psi=u,d,e,\nu} \bar{\psi}_{L} C_{L}^{\gamma\psi} \bar{\gamma}_{\mu} \psi_{L} + \sum_{\psi=u,d,e} \bar{\psi}_{R} C_{R}^{\gamma\psi} \bar{\gamma}_{\mu} \psi_{R} ,$$

$$G_{\mu}^{A} \mapsto G_{\mu}^{A} + b^{g} \left( D^{\nu} G_{\nu\mu} \right)^{A} + \sum_{\psi=u,d} \left( \bar{\psi}_{L} C_{L}^{g\psi} \bar{\gamma}_{\mu} T^{A} \psi_{L} + \bar{\psi}_{R} C_{R}^{g\psi} \bar{\gamma}_{\mu} T^{A} \psi_{R} \right) , \qquad (4.15)$$

where  $C_{L,R}^{\gamma\psi}$ ,  $C_{L,R}^{g\psi}$  are matrices in flavor space.

These field redefinitions can be used to remove operators proportional to the classical EOM from the EFT basis. In addition to setting the coefficients of EOM operators to zero, the field redefinitions induce changes in the coefficients of operators of even higher dimension. Our basis of on-shell-redundant operators is given in appendix D.2: we keep only the derivative part of the EOM in the redundant operators, hence the field redefinitions that set their coefficients to zero also induce a shift in the physical operators of the same and lower dimensions.

We include only four-dimensional Dirac structures in the field redefinitions (4.13) and (4.14): additional evanescent field redefinitions could be used to remove EOM redundancies in the set of evanescent operators. However, these redundancies are of no consequence since the renormalization scheme prevents a mixing of the evanescent sector into the physical sector. The linear terms  $A_{L,R}$  need to be included in eq. (4.13) in order to keep the kinetic terms canonically normalized.

The coefficients of the field redefinitions start at the one-loop level and their LEFT power counting is given by

$$\left\{A_{L,R}^{\psi}, B_{L,R}^{\psi}\right\} = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{v}\right), \quad \left\{C_{L,R}^{\psi}, D_{L,R}^{\psi\gamma}, D_{L,R}^{\psig}, b^{\gamma,g}, C_{L,R}^{\{\gamma,g\}\psi}\right\} = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{v^2}\right).$$
(4.16)

The requirement that the field redefinitions shift the coefficients of the redundant operators to zero does not fix all parameters of the field redefinitions. The combinations

$$A_{L}^{\psi} - A_{L}^{\psi\dagger}, \quad A_{R}^{\psi} - A_{R}^{\psi\dagger}, \quad B_{L}^{\psi} - B_{R}^{\psi\dagger}, \quad B_{R}^{\psi} - B_{L}^{\psi\dagger}, \quad C_{L}^{\psi} - C_{L}^{\psi\dagger}, \quad C_{R}^{\psi} - C_{R}^{\psi\dagger}$$
(4.17)

are additional chiral transformations that can be used, e.g., to change to the basis of mass eigenstates [8, 12, 62]. Here, we work in a basis with generic non-diagonal and non-Hermitian mass matrices, but one can always perform chiral field redefinitions and change to a basis with real diagonal mass matrices. Without this basis change, it turns out that even after removing the EOM redundancies at the one-loop level, the finite counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\text{ev}}(L_i)$  to dipole operators and mass matrices that compensate evanescent-operator insertions depend on the quantum gauge parameters  $\xi$  and  $\xi_g$ . This dependence is related to the ambiguity in the basis reflected by the unconstrained chiral transformations (4.17) and drops out of physical quantities. Therefore, in a final step we perform chiral field redefinitions  $A_L^{\psi} - A_L^{\psi\dagger}$ and  $A_R^{\psi} - A_R^{\psi\dagger}$  that consist of two terms, proportional to  $\xi - 1$  and  $\xi_g - 1$ , respectively, which allow us to remove all gauge-parameter dependences from the one-loop counterterms. This final field redefinition vanishes in Feynman gauge, but the calculation with generic gauge parameters  $\xi$  and  $\xi_g$  and the cancellation of the gauge-parameter dependence in the final results provide a powerful check. It turns out that the field redefinition that removes the gauge-parameter dependence fulfills

$$\operatorname{Tr}[A_L^{\psi} - A_L^{\psi\dagger}] = -\operatorname{Tr}[A_R^{\psi} - A_R^{\psi\dagger}], \qquad (4.18)$$

i.e., it contains an axial part that leads to a shift in the theta terms at the two-loop level. After the field redefinitions, the counterterms that we calculate are reduced to

$$\delta_{\rm div}(L_i) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_i^{(1,1)}(\{L_j\}), \quad \delta_{\rm div}(K_i) \Big|_{\{K_k=0\}} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{16\pi^2} K_i^{(1,1)}(\{L_j\}, \{K_k=0\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\chi}(L_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\chi}^{(1,0)}(\{L_j\}),$$
  

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(L_i) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} L_{i,\rm ev}^{(1,0)}(\{L_j\}, \{K_k\}),$$
(4.19)

where  $L_i$  again denote couplings, mass matrices, and the coefficients of higher-dimension physical operators. The expressions for the counterterms are very long and we provide the explicit results as supplementary material. The divergent counterterms for the physical parameters are scheme independent and they determine the one-loop RGEs via

$$\dot{L}_i := 16\pi^2 \frac{d}{d\log\mu} L_i = 2L_i^{(1,1)} = 32\pi^2 \varepsilon \,\delta_{\rm div}(L_i)\,, \tag{4.20}$$

as discussed in appendix C.

#### 4.3 Theta terms and anomalous axial rotations

Since the theta terms are total derivatives, usually they are do not contribute to perturbative calculations. While the QED theta term plays a role in the presence of magnetic monopoles [72], the QCD theta term is of phenomenological interest due to its non-perturbative contribution to hadronic electric dipole moments (EDMs). The experimental bound on the neutron EDM [73] implies that the effective QCD theta parameter is tiny, which is commonly referred to as the strong CP problem.

In the presence of higher-dimension operators, the QCD and QED theta parameters are renormalized. Even though the theta terms are total derivatives, this renormalization can be calculated in perturbation theory. The RGE of the theta terms was calculated in the SMEFT [9] and LEFT [12]. The theta terms in the LEFT also receive a contribution from the matching to the SMEFT [8].

We use the method of ref. [74] to calculate the renormalization of the theta terms in ordinary perturbation theory. To this end, we multiply all sources of CP violation in the LEFT Lagrangian by an artificial parameter  $\zeta$  and supplement the Lagrangian by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{LEFT}}(\zeta) \mapsto \mathcal{L}_{\text{LEFT}}(\zeta) + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{LEFT}}(\zeta)}{\partial \zeta} \delta \zeta ,$$
 (4.21)

where  $\delta\zeta$  is a scalar dummy field. A change in the *CP*-violating sources  $\delta\zeta$  induces a change in the theta parameters  $\delta\theta = \theta(\zeta)\delta\zeta$ . We calculate the  $\zeta$ -dependent counterterms to these shifts in the theta parameters

$$\theta_{\rm QCD}^{\rm ct}(\zeta)\delta\zeta \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2} G^A_{\mu\nu} \tilde{G}^{A\mu\nu} + \theta_{\rm QED}^{\rm ct}(\zeta)\delta\zeta \frac{e^2}{32\pi^2} F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}$$
(4.22)

from the gluon-gluon- $\delta\zeta$  and photon-photon- $\delta\zeta$  three-point functions, which do not vanish in perturbation theory due to the momentum insertion into the dummy field  $\delta\zeta$ . Finally, the counterterms to the theta parameters are obtained from the counterterms to the shifts  $\delta\theta$  via integration:

$$\theta_{\rm QCD}^{\rm ct} = \int_0^1 d\zeta \,\theta_{\rm QCD}^{\rm ct}(\zeta) \,, \quad \theta_{\rm QED}^{\rm ct} = \int_0^1 d\zeta \,\theta_{\rm QED}^{\rm ct}(\zeta) \,, \tag{4.23}$$

where the initial condition  $\theta = 0$  is provided by the *CP*-conserving point  $\zeta = 0$ .

The calculation can be simplified if we notice that CP-even operators do not induce a theta term: therefore, the same result is obtained if all higher-dimension operators are multiplied by the parameter  $\zeta$  and not only the CP-odd sources, as we explicitly verified. A further simplification is achieved if the CP-odd mass terms are not multiplied by  $\zeta$ : dimensional analysis implies that the CP-odd components of the mass matrices enter the renormalization of the theta parameters only in conjunction with coefficients of higherdimension operators. Hence, multiplying only the effective operators by  $\zeta$  leads to the same result as multiplying in addition the CP-odd mass term by  $\zeta$ , because the combinatorial factor arising from the additional couplings of the dummy field  $\delta\zeta$  to the mass terms is compensated by the integral (4.23). Schematically, momentum insertion into k effective operators leads to k terms that add up to

$$k \times \int_0^1 d\zeta \, m^n \zeta^{k-1} L_{i_1} \cdots L_{i_k} = m^n L_{i_1} \cdots L_{i_k} \,, \tag{4.24}$$

whereas if the dummy field also couples to the mass terms, there are n additional topologies with momentum insertion into the masses, leading again to

$$(k+n) \times \int_0^1 d\zeta \, m^n \zeta^{k+n-1} L_{i_1} \cdots L_{i_k} = m^n L_{i_1} \cdots L_{i_k} \,. \tag{4.25}$$

We checked explicitly that these different methods all lead to the same result for the renormalization of the theta parameters.

As is well known, the theta parameters are not invariant under axial fermion-field redefinitions but shift due to the chiral anomaly [75, 76]. The spurion transformation of the theta parameters (3.15) compensates this anomalous shift, turning chiral transformations into a spurion symmetry of the theory. The chiral anomaly is often derived in terms of the variation of the measure of the path integral [77, 78]. In dimensional regularization, the determinant of the field redefinition is always trivial and the anomaly is instead reproduced in terms of evanescent operators [46], see, e.g., refs. [28, 79]. Our calculation of the counterterms reproduces the anomaly as follows. Under a chiral transformation, the LEFT Lagrangian is invariant if the mass matrices and Wilson coefficients are assigned the spurion transformations of section 3.3. If similar spurion transformations are assigned to the coefficients of evanescent operators, this remains true even in D space-time dimensions, with the exception of the evanescent fermion kinetic terms (3.19) in the Lagrangian, which induce a shift in the dimension-4 evanescent operators  $\mathcal{E}_{\psi D}$ :

$$K_{\psi D} \mapsto K_{\psi D} + U_L^{\psi \dagger} U_R^{\psi} - 1.$$

$$(4.26)$$

The insertions of the dimension-4 evanescent operators induce a finite contribution to the theta terms, which is compensated by the finite renormalization

$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(\theta_{\rm QED}) = \frac{1}{2i} 2N_{\psi} \mathsf{q}_{\psi}^{2} \left( {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}] - {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}^{\dagger}] - \frac{1}{2} {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D} K_{\psi D}] + \frac{1}{2} {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}^{\dagger} K_{\psi D}^{\dagger}] + \dots \right) ,$$
  
$$\delta_{\rm fin}^{\rm ev}(\theta_{\rm QCD}) = \frac{1}{2i} \left( {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}] - {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}^{\dagger}] - \frac{1}{2} {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D} K_{\psi D}] + \frac{1}{2} {\rm Tr}[K_{\psi D}^{\dagger} K_{\psi D}^{\dagger}] + \dots \right) , \quad (4.27)$$

where  $N_{u,d} = N_c$ ,  $N_e = 1$ , Tr denotes the trace in flavor space, and in our calculation we only consider single and double insertions of  $\mathcal{E}_{\psi D}$ . The shift (4.26) in the evanescent coefficient therefore induces a shift in the renormalized theta terms

$$\theta_{\text{QED}} \mapsto \theta_{\text{QED}} - 2N_{\psi} q_{\psi}^{2} \text{ImTr} \left[ (U_{R}^{\psi^{\dagger}} U_{L}^{\psi} - 1) - \frac{1}{2} (U_{R}^{\psi^{\dagger}} U_{L}^{\psi} - 1)^{2} + \dots \right], \\ \theta_{\text{QCD}} \mapsto \theta_{\text{QCD}} - \text{ImTr} \left[ (U_{R}^{\psi^{\dagger}} U_{L}^{\psi} - 1) - \frac{1}{2} (U_{R}^{\psi^{\dagger}} U_{L}^{\psi} - 1)^{2} + \dots \right].$$
(4.28)

Due to

$$\arg \det(U_R^{\psi\dagger}U_L^{\psi}) = \operatorname{Im}\operatorname{Tr}\log(U_R^{\psi\dagger}U_L^{\psi}) = \operatorname{Im}\operatorname{Tr}\left[(U_R^{\psi\dagger}U_L^{\psi}-1) - \frac{1}{2}(U_R^{\psi\dagger}U_L^{\psi}-1)^2 + \dots\right],$$
(4.29)

this is exactly the anomalous shift that gets compensated by the spurion transformation (3.15). If we choose a chiral transformation that renders the mass matrices real and diagonal

$$U_R^{\psi} M_{\psi} U_L^{\psi\dagger} = U_L^{\psi} M_{\psi}^{\dagger} U_R^{\psi\dagger} = M_{\psi}^{\text{diag}} , \qquad (4.30)$$

then in this mass basis the theta terms become

$$\theta'_{\rm QED} = \theta_{\rm QED} + 2N_{\psi}q_{\psi}^2 \arg \det(M_{\psi}),$$
  

$$\theta'_{\rm QCD} = \theta_{\rm QCD} + \arg \det(M_{\psi}),$$
(4.31)

which are the well-known invariant combinations of theta angles and mass phases.

#### 5 Calculation and results

Our main result is the complete set of one-loop LEFT counterterms as defined in eq. (4.19). Together with the operator basis in appendix D and the scheme definitions in section 3, this establishes a chirally invariant HV scheme for the LEFT at one loop and NLL that separates the physical from the evanescent sector. In particular, S-matrix elements are independent of the coefficients of evanescent operators, i.e., the physical part of one-loop matrix elements computed with the LEFT Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i} \mu^{n_i \varepsilon} L_i(\mu) \mathcal{O}_i + \sum_{i} \mu^{m_i \varepsilon} K_i(\mu) \mathcal{E}_i + \mathcal{L}_{ct} ,$$
  
$$\mathcal{L}_{ct} = \sum_{i} \mu^{n_i \varepsilon} \Big[ \delta_{div}(L_i) + \delta_{fin}^{\chi}(L_i) + \delta_{fin}^{ev}(L_i) \Big] \mathcal{O}_i + \sum_{i} \mu^{m_i \varepsilon} \delta_{div}(K_i) \mathcal{E}_i$$
(5.1)

is independent of  $K_i$ , where  $L_i$  and  $K_i$  denote renormalized parameters. The same is true for the two-loop RGEs, see appendix C. Up to dimension six, the counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\text{ev}}(L_i)$  contain terms either linear or quadratic in  $K_k$ , whereas  $\delta_{\text{div}}(L_i)$  and  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\chi}(L_i)$  are independent of  $K_k$ . Therefore, at fixed one-loop order one would obtain the same physical results when using the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}' = \sum_{i} \mu^{n_i \varepsilon} L_i(\mu) \mathcal{O}_i + \mathcal{L}'_{\text{ct}}, \quad \mathcal{L}'_{\text{ct}} = \sum_{i} \mu^{n_i \varepsilon} \Big[ \delta_{\text{div}}(L_i) + \delta^{\chi}_{\text{fin}}(L_i) \Big] \mathcal{O}_i.$$
(5.2)

Although  $\delta_{\text{div}}(K_i)|_{K_k=0}$  does not vanish, tree-level insertions of evanescent counterterms do not contribute to physical one-loop matrix elements, hence we dropped evanescent operators altogether in eq. (5.2). The renormalized parameters  $L_i(\mu)$  in eq. (5.2) are identical to the ones in eq. (5.1). When the matching to the LEFT produces tree-level contributions to evanescent operators, it is best to use eq. (5.1) together with the method of regions [80], as the naive use of eq. (5.2) with the method of regions would miss the finite renormalization [81].

In order to obtain the results for the counterterms, we made use of several tools that facilitate the loop calculation: the Feynman diagrams were generated with qgraf [82] and we evaluated them using our own Mathematica and FORM routines [83, 84]. In some intermediate steps of the calculation, we were making use of FeynCalc [85–88] and Package X [89, 90].

For the loop calculation, we relied on two independent implementations and we performed cross-checks of the final results for the counterterms. We were using generic quantum gauge parameters  $\xi$  and  $\xi_g$ : after the appropriate field redefinitions, the final result is gauge-parameter independent.

We checked that the divergent counterterms for the physical operator coefficients are consistent with the LEFT RGEs of ref. [12] via the relation (4.20).<sup>7</sup> The form of the RGEs obtained here differs from the result of ref. [12] by a chiral field redefinition (4.17) that involves double-dipole insertions and only affects the RGEs of the mass matrices. As explained in section 4.2, here we only perform a minimal field redefinition (4.17) that removes the gaugeparameter dependence in the finite counterterms, but our choice for the chiral rotations (4.17)does not contain a divergent part. As in refs. [8, 12], additional field redefinitions can always be applied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Performing these checks, we found some minor mistakes in the results of ref. [12].

The results are provided as supplementary material: we define the notations and conventions in appendix B. We give the results for the counterterms only for coefficients of operators listed explicitly in appendix D. The complete basis involves further operators that are related by Hermitian conjugation to the given operators, as indicated by " + h.c." in the tables. The counterterms for their coefficients directly follow from the requirement that the Lagrangian be Hermitian and hence they can be easily deduced.

A large part of the expressions for the counterterms results from the contribution of double insertions of dimension-five operators, which for most phenomenological applications will be of minor relevance. If double insertions are not needed, the results can be simplified significantly. For convenience, we also provide explicitly the results for the contribution of single-operator insertions.

### 6 Summary and conclusions

In this paper, we have introduced a renormalization scheme for the LEFT at one loop and NLL that is based on the original HV scheme, but directly implements the restoration of spurion chiral symmetry, which is broken by the regulator. We have extracted the necessary finite renormalizations by working with generic mass matrices, which together with the Wilson coefficients of higher-dimension operators are promoted to spurions with appropriate chiral transformation. In addition, we have defined a complete set of EOM-redundant operators used in the intermediate steps of the off-shell renormalization, and we have classified the full set of one-loop evanescent operators that are generated by the insertion of physical operators. With the exception of four-fermion operators, we have classified the complete list of evanescent operators in the HV scheme, including the ones that are not required as one-loop counterterms.

In our renormalization scheme, the physical effect of evanescent operators at one loop is compensated by finite counterterms, which decouples the unphysical evanescent sector from the physical one. Furthermore, our scheme has the advantage that spurion chiral symmetry is preserved even in intermediate steps of calculations and is not only restored in relations between observables. Therefore, we expect that our scheme leads to similar results as the NDR scheme in cases where the inconsistencies of the NDR scheme are not visible, differing only by chirally symmetric finite renormalizations. The symmetry-breaking contributions that arise in a pure  $\overline{\mathrm{MS}}$  HV scheme can induce spurious effects, e.g., in one-loop matching calculations. It will be interesting to compare in detail the application of our modified HV scheme to NDR results. We leave this comparison of different schemes for future work. We stress that in contrast to NDR, our scheme based on the HV definition of  $\gamma_5$  and the Levi-Civita symbol is algebraically fully consistent. Its application will be of particular interest for calculations in the *CP*-odd sector of the theory, e.g., for matching calculations to schemes amenable to lattice computations in the context of the neutron EDM [28, 81, 91-94]. However, since we define a scheme for the entire LEFT up to dimension six, we expect that our results are widely applicable for fixed-order one-loop calculations in the LEFT. In addition, they represent another step towards the completion of the EFT framework at next-to-leading-log accuracy.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank T. Engel, B. Grinstein, S. Kollatzsch, A. V. Manohar, A. Signer, Y. Ulrich, and M. Zoller for valuable discussions and A. V. Manohar, D. Stöckinger, and J.-N. Toelstede for useful comments on the manuscript. Financial support by the Swiss National Science Foundation (Project No. PCEFP2\_194272) is gratefully acknowledged.

#### A Conventions

#### A.1 Dirac algebra

The matrix  $\gamma_5$  and the chiral projectors are defined by

$$\gamma_5 := i\gamma^0 \gamma^1 \gamma^2 \gamma^3 = \frac{i}{4!} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} \gamma^\mu \gamma^\nu \gamma^\lambda \gamma^\sigma, \quad P_L = \frac{1}{2} (1 - \gamma_5), \quad P_R = \frac{1}{2} (1 + \gamma_5), \quad (A.1)$$

where the Levi-Civita symbol is normalized to  $\epsilon_{0123} = +1$ . The matrix  $\gamma_5$  fulfills the following (anti-)commutation properties:

$$\{\gamma_5, \bar{\gamma}_\mu\} = 0, \quad [\gamma_5, \hat{\gamma}_\mu] = 0.$$
 (A.2)

The charge-conjugation matrix fulfills

$$C\gamma_{\mu}C^{-1} = -\gamma_{\mu}^{T}, \quad C = C^{*} = -C^{-1} = -C^{\dagger} = -C^{T},$$
 (A.3)

which in 4 space-time dimensions is realized by  $C = i\gamma^2\gamma^0$ . We take the relations (A.3) to be true also in  $D = 4 - 2\varepsilon$  space-time dimensions [66, 68], in particular we use

$$C\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}C^{-1} = -\bar{\gamma}_{\mu}^{T}, \quad C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}C^{-1} = -\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}^{T}.$$
 (A.4)

#### A.2 Color algebra

For  $SU(3)_c$ , we use Hermitian generators

$$T^{A} = \frac{\lambda^{A}}{2}, \quad \text{Tr}[T^{A}T^{B}] = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{AB}, \qquad (A.5)$$

where  $\lambda^A$  are the Gell-Mann matrices. The quadratic Casimir operators in the fundamental and adjoint representations are

$$T^{A}_{\alpha\beta}T^{A}_{\beta\gamma} = C_F\delta_{\alpha\gamma} = \frac{N_c^2 - 1}{2N_c}\delta_{\alpha\gamma}, \quad f^{ABC}f^{ABD} = C_A\delta^{CD} = N_c\delta^{CD}.$$
(A.6)

#### **B** Conventions for the supplementary material

The complete results for the divergent and finite counterterms after field redefinitions are provided as supplementary material, which consists of a Mathematica notebook and a subdirectory containing the results in the form of pure text files. The notebook allows one to easily extract selected counterterms. We also provide simplified results restricted to the contribution of only single-operator insertions.

The results are written in the form of Mathematica replacement rules for the counterterms. The symbols appearing in the text files are explained in detail in table 1. We are using a compact notation based on matrices in flavor space. The only indices are the open indices of the replacement rule, e.g.,

```
\[Delta] [KdD2LRDag[fm2_, fm1_]] ->
    -1/8*(CF*FCHN[{LdGDag, LdGDag}, fm2, fm1])/(EpsilonUV*Pi^2) -
    FCHN[{Ld\[Gamma]Dag, Ld\[Gamma]Dag}, fm2, fm1]/(8*EpsilonUV*Pi^2)
```

translates into

$$\delta_{\rm div}(K_{dD2}^{LR\,\dagger})_{pr} = -\frac{1}{8\pi^2\varepsilon} \left[ C_F(L_{dG}^{\dagger}L_{dG}^{\dagger})_{pr} + (L_{d\gamma}^{\dagger}L_{d\gamma}^{\dagger})_{pr} \right]. \tag{B.1}$$

For the Wilson coefficients of Hermitian conjugate operators, we follow the convention of refs. [8, 12], e.g.,

$$L_{e\gamma}^{\dagger} := \left(L_{e\gamma}_{pp}\right)^{*}, \quad L_{uddu}^{S1,RR\dagger} := \left(L_{uddu}^{S1,RR}\right)^{*}.$$
(B.2)

Furthermore, in order to use a matrix-style notation that avoids sums over repeated flavor indices, we denote rank-4 flavor tensors, e.g., by

$$FFA(L_{ee}^{V,LR})_{pr} FFB(L_{ee}^{V,LR})_{st} := L_{ee}^{V,LR}, \qquad (B.3)$$

where the first two flavor indices are attached to the symbol FFA and the last two indices to the symbol FFB, which always need to appear together in an expression. Therefore, the notation

corresponds in the index notation of ref. [12] to the expression

$$\delta_{\rm div}(L_{ee}^{V,LL})_{prst} = \frac{e^2 \mathsf{q}_e^2}{96\pi^2 \varepsilon} L_{wwst}^{V,LL} \delta_{pr} + \dots$$
(B.4)

# C Renormalization-group equations at two loops

In the present paper, we compute two types of finite counterterms: the counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\chi}(L_i)$ , which restore spurion chiral symmetry, and the counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\text{ev}}(L_i)$ , which compensate the insertion of evanescent operators. In order to use our scheme, one has to take into account these finite renormalizations in NLL calculations, in particular in the finite parts of one-loop calculations, e.g., in matching calculations or matrix elements. It is well known that the finite renormalizations also affect NLL calculations through the two-loop RGEs [14, 15, 18, 59, 95]. Here, we review the derivation and the argument why the scheme of refs. [14, 15, 18] avoids a mixing of the coefficients of evanescent operators into the physical sector. We treat the generic case of multiple operator insertions and focus on the present situation in the HV scheme including symmetry-restoring counterterms.

Distinguishing non-evanescent operators  $\mathcal{O}_i$  from evanescent operators  $\mathcal{E}_i$ , we write the Lagrangian in terms of bare parameters schematically as

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i} L_i \mathcal{O}_i + \sum_{i} K_i \mathcal{E}_i \tag{C.1}$$

variable	code name	explanation
$N_c = 3$	Nc	number of colors
$C_F$	CF	$SU(3)_c$ fundamental Casimir invariant
$n_e$	nf[e]	number of charged lepton flavors
$n_u$	nf [u]	number of up-type quark flavors
$n_d$	nf[d]	number of down-type quark flavors
$q_e = -1$	q[e]	electron charge
$q_u = 2/3$	q[u]	up-quark charge
$q_d = -1/3$	q[d]	down-quark charge
e, g	e, g	QED and QCD gauge couplings
$ heta_{ ext{QED}},   heta_{ ext{QCD}}$	[\Theta]QED, [\Theta]QCD	QED and QCD theta parameters
$M_{\nu}, M_{\nu}^{\dagger}$	M[nu], Mdag[nu]	neutrino mass matrix
$M_e, M_e^{\dagger}$	M[e], Mdag[e]	charged-lepton mass matrix
$M_u, M_u^\dagger$	M[u], Mdag[u]	up-quark mass matrix
$M_d, M_d^\dagger$	<pre>M[d], Mdag[d]</pre>	down-quark mass matrix
$\varepsilon = (4 - D)/2$	EpsilonUV	dimensional regulator
$\delta_{pr}$	kd[f,p,r]	flavor Kronecker delta for fermion type $\boldsymbol{f}$
$\operatorname{Tr}[A \cdots B]$	flTr[A,,B]	trace in flavor space
$(A \cdots B)_{pr}$	$FCHN[{A,,B},p,r]$	flavor chain: element $i, j$ of a product
		of flavor-space matrices
$(A)_{pr}(B)_{st}$	$FCHN2[{A},{B},p,r,s,t]$	product of two flavor chains
$\delta_{ m div}(\ \cdot\ )$	$[Delta][ \cdot ]$	divergent counterterms
$\delta^{\chi}_{ m fin}(\ \cdot\ )$	$[Delta] [Chi] [ \cdot ]$	finite symmetry-restoring counterterms
$\delta_{ m fin}^{ m ev}(\ \cdot\ )$	$\[Delta]ev[\cdot]$	finite evanescent-compensating counterterms
$L_{e\gamma}_{I^{V8,LR}}$	Le\[Gamma] LV81 Puuu	Wilson coefficients

**Table 1.** LEFT variables appearing in the code with the one-loop counterterm results, provided as supplementary material.

and as in eq. (4.2) introduce renormalized parameters and counterterms according to

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i} \mu^{n_i \varepsilon} (L_i^r(\mu) + L_i^{\text{ct}}) \mathcal{O}_i + \sum_{i} \mu^{m_i \varepsilon} (K_i^r(\mu) + K_i^{\text{ct}}) \mathcal{E}_i.$$
(C.2)

The counterterms are expanded as in eq. (4.7) into a power series in  $1/\varepsilon$ 

$$X_i^{\text{ct}} = \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{l} \frac{1}{\varepsilon^n} \frac{1}{(16\pi^2)^l} X_i^{(l,n)}(\{L_j^r(\mu)\}, \{K_k^r(\mu)\}), \quad X = L, K,$$
(C.3)

where gauge couplings, masses, and Wilson coefficients are treated on an equal footing. In loops with insertions of evanescent operators, the Dirac algebra produces either evanescent structures or physical structures accompanied by a factor  $\varepsilon$ . In the HV scheme, this factor can be traced back explicitly to the trace of an evanescent metric tensor  $\hat{g}_{\mu}^{\mu} = -2\varepsilon$  and it is useful to single it out in the calculation by denoting it by  $\hat{\varepsilon}$ , even though  $\hat{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon$ . To this end, we split the counterterm coefficients (with some abuse of notation) as follows:

$$L_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\},\{K_{k}^{r}(\mu)\}) = \bar{L}_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\}) + \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}\hat{L}_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\},\{K_{k}^{r}(\mu)\}),$$

$$K_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\},\{K_{k}^{r}(\mu)\}) = \bar{K}_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\}) + \hat{K}_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\},\{K_{k}^{r}(\mu)\}), \quad (C.4)$$

where

$$\bar{X}_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\}) = X_{i}^{(l,n)}(\{L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\}, \{K_{k}^{r}(\mu) = 0\}), \quad X = L, K.$$
(C.5)

The strongest singularity of  $L_i^{\text{ct}}$  at each loop level does not depend on the coefficients of evanescent operators,  $\hat{L}_i^{(l,l)} = 0$ , or  $\partial L_i^{(l,l)} / \partial K_j^r = 0$ .

The RGEs follow from the fact that the bare parameters do not depend on  $\mu$ :

$$\frac{dL_{i}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = -n_{i}\varepsilon L_{i}^{r}(\mu) - \sum_{l=1}^{\infty}\sum_{n=0}^{l}\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{n}}\frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{l}}\left(n_{i}\varepsilon L_{i}^{(l,n)} + \sum_{j}\left[\frac{\partial L_{i}^{(l,n)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}}\frac{dL_{j}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} + \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}\frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(l,n)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}}\frac{dK_{j}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu}\right]\right),$$

$$\frac{dK_{i}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = -m_{i}\varepsilon K_{i}^{r}(\mu) - \sum_{l=1}^{\infty}\sum_{n=0}^{l}\frac{1}{\varepsilon^{n}}\frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{l}}\left(m_{i}\varepsilon K_{i}^{(l,n)} + \sum_{j}\left[\frac{\partial K_{i}^{(l,n)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}}\frac{dL_{j}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} + \frac{\partial \hat{K}_{i}^{(l,n)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}}\frac{dK_{j}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu}\right]\right).$$

$$(C.6)$$

At one loop accuracy, one obtains

$$\frac{dL_i^r(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \left( -n_i L_i^{(1,1)} + \sum_j n_j \frac{\partial L_i^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_j^r} L_j^r(\mu) \right) + \mathcal{O}(2\text{-loop}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \,. \tag{C.7}$$

For a connected graph, the topological identity

$$V - I + l = 1 \tag{C.8}$$

holds, with l the number of loops, I the number of internal lines, and  $V = \sum_k V_k$  the total number of vertices, where  $V_k$  is the number of vertices with k legs. The number of external legs is

$$E = \sum_{k} kV_k - 2I = \sum_{k} (k-2)V_k - 2(l-1).$$
 (C.9)

We determine  $L_i^{(l,n)}$  from the *l*-loop counterterm to 1PI diagrams with  $E = n_i + 2$  external legs. The counterterm is a polynomial in all the Lagrangian parameters,

$$L_i^{(l,n)} = \sum_g a_{g,i}^{(l,n)} \prod_{j'} (L_{j'}^r)^{V_{g,j'}}, \qquad (C.10)$$

where  $V_{g,j'}$  is the number of insertions of vertex type j' in graph g. Therefore

$$-n_{i}L_{i}^{(l,n)} + \sum_{j} n_{j}L_{j}^{r}(\mu)\frac{\partial L_{i}^{(l,n)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} = -n_{i}L_{i}^{(l,n)} + \sum_{g} a_{g,i}^{(l,n)}\sum_{j} n_{j}V_{g,j}\prod_{j'}(L_{j'}^{r})^{V_{g,j'}}$$
$$= -n_{i}L_{i}^{(l,n)} + \sum_{g} a_{g,i}^{(l,n)}\sum_{j}(k_{j}-2)V_{g,j}\prod_{j'}(L_{j'}^{r})^{V_{g,j'}}$$
$$= -n_{i}L_{i}^{(l,n)} + (E+2(l-1))\sum_{g} a_{g,i}^{(l,n)}\prod_{j'}(L_{j'}^{r})^{V_{g,j'}} = 2lL_{i}^{(l,n)}, \quad (C.11)$$

hence the one-loop RGE can be extracted from the  $\varepsilon^{-1}$  pole of the counterterms as follows:

$$\frac{dL_i^r(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = 2 \times \frac{\bar{L}_i^{(1,1)}}{16\pi^2} + \mathcal{O}(2\text{-loop}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \qquad (C.12)$$

which is manifestly independent of evanescent coefficients. Similarly, using the same topological argument, up to two-loop accuracy one obtains the RGE

$$\frac{dL_{i}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} 2L_{i}^{(1,1)} + \frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{2}} \left[ 4L_{i}^{(2,1)} - \sum_{j} 2L_{j}^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} - \sum_{j} 2L_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} - \sum_{j} 2K_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}} \right] + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{2}} \left[ 4L_{i}^{(2,2)} - \sum_{j} 2L_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} \right] + \mathcal{O}(3\text{-loop}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \,. \tag{C.13}$$

Since the RGE needs to be finite, one obtains the consistency condition

$$L_i^{(2,2)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_j L_j^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial L_i^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_j^r}, \qquad (C.14)$$

which follows from the properties of the loop integrals [46, 96]. Therefore, the RGE reads

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dL_{i}^{r}(\mu)}{d\log\mu} &= \frac{1}{16\pi^{2}} 2L_{i}^{(1,1)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{(16\pi^{2})^{2}} \left[ 4L_{i}^{(2,1)} - \sum_{j} 2L_{j}^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} - \sum_{j} 2L_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} - \sum_{j} 2K_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}} \right] \\ &+ \mathcal{O}(3\text{-loop}) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon) \,. \end{aligned}$$
(C.15)

We have not shown all appearances of  $\hat{\varepsilon}$ : the parts of the counterterm coefficients  $L_i^{(2,1)}$  and  $L_i^{(1,0)}$  that depend on evanescent coefficients contain factors of  $\hat{\varepsilon}/\varepsilon$ .

The requirement that the physical RGEs do not depend on the coefficients  $K_i^r$  of the evanescent operators imposes a constraint on the finite renormalizations  $L_i^{(1,0)}$ :

$$\frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(2,1)}}{\partial K_{k}^{r}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \left[ \sum_{j} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{j}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{k}^{r}} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} + \sum_{j} L_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial^{2} \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{k}^{r} \partial L_{j}^{r}} + \sum_{j} \frac{\partial K_{j}^{(1,1)}}{\partial K_{k}^{r}} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}} + \sum_{j} K_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial^{2} \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{k}^{r} \partial K_{j}^{r}} \right].$$
(C.16)

Similarly to eq. (C.14), this follows from the property of the loop integrals [46, 96], which implies for evanescent insertions

$$\frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}\hat{L}_{i}^{(2,1)} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \sum_{j} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \hat{L}_{j}^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial L_{i}^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} + \sum_{j} L_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_{j}^{r}} + \sum_{j} K_{j}^{(1,1)} \frac{\hat{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \frac{\partial \hat{L}_{i}^{(1,0)}}{\partial K_{j}^{r}} \right], \quad (C.17)$$

provided that the finite renormalization  $L_i^{(1,0)}$  is chosen to cancel the finite one-loop contribution from the insertion of evanescent operators [14, 15, 18]. If eq. (C.16) is not used as a cross check, the RGEs can be simplified to

$$\frac{dL_i^r(\mu)}{d\log\mu} = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} 2\bar{L}_i^{(1,1)} + \frac{1}{(16\pi^2)^2} \left[ 4\bar{L}_i^{(2,1)} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_i^{(1,1)}}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_i^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,1)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)}}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^r}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^{(1,0)} \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^r}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^r \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^r}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^r \frac{\partial\bar{L}_j^r}{\partial L_j^r} - \sum_j 2\bar{L}_j^r - \sum_j 2\bar$$

As can be seen in eq. (C.18), the two-loop RGEs of the physical parameters are directly affected by the divergent counterterms  $\delta_{\text{div}}(K_i)$  of evanescent operator coefficients, the finite counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\text{ev}}(L_i)$  of physical operator coefficients that compensate evanescent insertions, as well as the additional symmetry-restoring finite counterterms  $\delta_{\text{fin}}^{\chi}(L_i)$  (or any other additional finite renormalization that one might choose to perform). Double insertions of evanescent operators are not relevant for the two-loop RGEs.

#### D LEFT operator basis

#### D.1 On-shell basis

The following list of operators up to dimension six in the LEFT is reproduced from [4]. We adapt it to the HV scheme in our convention by keeping all operators strictly in four space-time dimensions. As explained in section 3, explicit bars over Dirac matrices in vector bilinears are not needed, since the chiral fields automatically project to four dimensions.

	$( u u)X +  ext{h.c.}$	(	$(\overline{L}R)X +  ext{h.c.}$	$X^3$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu}$	$_{\gamma} \left  (\nu_{Lp}^T C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lr}) F_{\mu\nu} \right $	$\mathcal{O}_{e\gamma}$	$\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu u}e_{Rr}F_{\mu u}$	$\mathcal{O}_G \left[ f^{ABC} \overline{G^{A\nu}_{\mu} G^{B\rho}_{\nu} G^{C\mu}_{\rho}} \right]$
		$\mathcal{O}_{u\gamma}$	$\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu u}u_{Rr}F_{\mu u}$	$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{G}} \left  f^{ABC} \overline{\widetilde{G}_{\mu}^{A\nu} G_{\nu}^{B\rho} G_{\rho}^{C\mu}} \right $
		$\mathcal{O}_{d\gamma}$	$\bar{d}_{Lp} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu u} d_{Rr} F_{\mu u}$	
		$\mathcal{O}_{uG}$	$\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^A u_{Rr}G^A_{\mu\nu}$	
		$\mathcal{O}_{dG}$	$\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^A d_{Rr}G^A_{\mu\nu}$	

# $(\overline{L}L)(\overline{L}L)$

# $(\overline{L}L)(\overline{R}R)$

	$(\overline{L}L)(\overline{L}L)$	$(\overline{L}L)(\overline{R}R)$			$(\overline{L}R)(\overline{L}R) + { m h.c.}$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu \nu}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}\nu_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu e}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}^{S,RR}_{ee}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}e_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{ee}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ee}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{eu}^{S,RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}u_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu e}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu u}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{eu}^{T,RR}$	$\left(\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rt})\right.$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu u}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu d}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ed}^{S,RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu d}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{eu}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ed}^{T,RR}$	$\left  (\bar{e}_{Lp} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Rt}) \right $		
$\mathcal{O}_{eu}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ed}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}^{S,RR}_{ u edu}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}u_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{ed}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ue}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{T,RR}$	$\left  (\bar{\nu}_{Lp} \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rt}) \right $		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{O}_{de}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}^{S1,RR}_{uu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}u_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{uu}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{V,LR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})+{\rm h.c.}$	$\mathcal{O}^{S8,RR}_{uu}$	$\left(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^A u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}T^A u_{Rt})\right.$		
$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{V,LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uu}^{V1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{S1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V1,LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}^{V8,LR}_{uu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{S8,RR}$	$\left(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^A u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^A d_{Rt})\right)$		
$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V8,LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{S1,RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rt})$		
	$(\overline{R}R)(\overline{R}R)$	$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V8,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{S8,RR}$	$\left(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^A d_{Rr}\right)(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^A d_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}^{V,RR}_{ac}$	$(\bar{e}_{Bn}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Br})(\bar{e}_{Bs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Bt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{du}^{V1,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uddu}^{S1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}u_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}^{V,RR}_{con}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rn}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Rn})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{du}^{V8,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uddu}^{S8,RR}$	$\left  (\bar{u}_{Lp}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^A u_{Rt}) \right $		
$\mathcal{O}_{od}^{V,RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{V1,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$(\overline{L}R$	$(\overline{R}L) + h.c.$		
$\mathcal{O}_{uu}^{V,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{V8,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ev}^{S,RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Ln}e_{Br})(\bar{u}_{Bs}u_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{dd}^{V,RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uddu}^{V1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt})$ + h.c.	$\mathcal{O}_{od}^{S,RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Br})(\bar{d}_{Bs}d_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uddu}^{V8,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{S,RL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}u_{Lt})$		
	1						

 $\mathcal{O}_{ud}^{V8,RR} \left| (\bar{u}_{Rp} \gamma^{\mu} T^A u_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \gamma_{\mu} T^A d_{Rt}) \right|$ 

Table 2. LEFT operators of dimension five, as well as LEFT operators of dimension six that conserve baryon and lepton number.

			$\Delta L = + +$ inc.		
		$\mathcal{O}^{S,L}_{ u u}$	$^{L}\left (\nu_{Lp}^{T}C\nu_{Lr})(\nu_{Ls}^{T}C\nu_{Lt})\right.$		
_	$\Delta L = 2 +  ext{h.c.}$	Δ	$B = \Delta L = 1 + \text{h.c.}$	$\Delta B$	$E = -\Delta L = 1 +  ext{h.c.}$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu e}^{S,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs} e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{udd}^{S,LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Lr}^{\beta})(d_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\nu_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddd}^{S,LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Lr}^{\beta})(\bar{e}_{Rs}d_{Lt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu e}^{T,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{duu}^{S,LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lr}^{\beta})(u_{Ls}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{udd}^{S,LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Lr}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu e}^{S,LR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls} e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uud}^{S,LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lr}^{\beta})(d_{Rs}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddu}^{S,LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Lr}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}u_{Rt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu u}^{S,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{duu}^{S,LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lr}^{\beta})(u_{Rs}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddd}^{S,LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Lr}^{\beta})(\bar{e}_{Ls}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu u}^{T,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{u}_{Rs} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{uud}^{S,RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Rr}^{\beta})(d_{Ls}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddd}^{S,RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rr}^{\beta})(\bar{e}_{Rs}d_{Lt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu u}^{S,LR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls} u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{duu}^{S,RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d^{\alpha T}_{Rp}Cu^{\beta}_{Rr})(u^{\gamma T}_{Ls}Ce_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{udd}^{S,RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rr}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu d}^{S,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{dud}^{S,RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Rr}^{\beta})(d_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\nu_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddd}^{S,RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rr}^{\beta})(\bar{e}_{Ls}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu d}^{T,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{ddu}^{S,RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rr}^{\beta})(u_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\nu_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu d}^{S,LR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{O}_{duu}^{S,RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Rr}^{\beta})(u_{Rs}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{S,LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs} u_{Lt})$				
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{T,LL}$	$\left(\nu_{Lp}^T C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Lt})\right)$				
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{S,LR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls} u_{Rt})$				
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu edu}^{V,RL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \gamma^\mu e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \gamma_\mu u_{Lt})$				
$\mathcal{O}_{ u edu}^{V,RR}$	$\left(\nu_{Lp}^T C \gamma^\mu e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_\mu u_{Rt})\right)$				

 $\Delta L = 4 + h.c.$ 

Table 3. LEFT operators of dimension six that violate baryon and/or lepton number.

# D.2 On-shell-redundant operators

In table 4, we provide a set of operators that extend the on-shell LEFT basis in appendix D.1 to an off-shell-complete basis. Together with the inclusion of evanescent operators, this extended operator basis allows us to renormalize all off-shell Green's functions.

$( u u)D^2 +  ext{h.c.}$	$(\overline{L}F)$	$R)D^{2} + h.c.$		$X^2D^2$
$\mathcal{O}_{\nu D}^{(5)} \left  \nu_{Lp}^T C(i\bar{\phi})^2 \nu_{Lr} \right $	$\mathcal{O}_{eD}^{(5)}$	$\bar{e}_{Lp}(i\bar{D})^2 e_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{O}_{\gamma D}$	$\overline{(\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})(\partial^{\lambda}F_{\lambda\nu})}$
	$\mathcal{O}_{uD}^{(5)}$	$\bar{u}_{Lp}(i\bar{D})^2 u_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{O}_{GD}$	$\overline{(D_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^A (D^{\lambda}G_{\lambda\nu})^A}$
	$\mathcal{O}_{dD}^{(5)}$	$\left  \bar{d}_{Lp} (i\bar{D})^2 d_{Rr} \right $		

	$(\overline{L}L)D^3$		$(\overline{R}R)D^3$		$(\overline{L}L)XD$		$(\overline{R}R)XD$
$\mathcal{O}^L_{\nu D}$	$\bar{\nu}_{Lp}(i\bar{\partial})^3 \nu_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{eD}$	$\bar{e}_{Rp}(i\bar{D})^3 e_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{O}^L_{D \nu \gamma}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\partial}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nu_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{De\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{D}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{O}^L_{eD}$	$\bar{e}_{Lp}(i\bar{D})^3 e_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{uD}$	$\bar{u}_{Rp}(i\bar{D})^3 u_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{O}^L_{\nu D\gamma}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\partial}\!\!\!/\nu_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{eD\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not\!\!\!D}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{O}^L_{uD}$	$\bar{u}_{Lp}(i\bar{D})^3 u_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{dD}$	$\bar{d}_{Rp}(i\bar{D})^3 d_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{O}^L_{\nu\gamma D}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{e\gamma D}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$
$\mathcal{O}^L_{dD}$	$\bar{d}_{Lp}(i\bar{D})^3 d_{Lr}$			$\mathcal{O}^L_{De\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}i\overline{\not{D}}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{Du\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{D}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{eD\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{D}\!\!\!/e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{uD\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu u}i\bar{D}\!\!\!/ u_{Rr})F^{\mu u}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{e\gamma D}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{u\gamma D}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{Du\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{D}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{Dd\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{D}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{uD\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{D}\!\!\!/u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{dD\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{D}\!\!\!/d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{u\gamma D}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{d\gamma D}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{Dd\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}i\not{\!$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{DuG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}i\overline{\not{D}}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{dD\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{D}\!\!\!/d_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{uDG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i\bar{\not\!\!\!D} u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{d\gamma D}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{uGD}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{DuG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{b}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A u_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{DdG}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}i \overleftarrow{D} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{uDG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i \bar{\not\!\!D} u_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{dDG}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^Ai\bar{D}d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{uGD}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^A u_{Lr})(\bar{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^A$	$\mathcal{O}^R_{dGD}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A}$
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{DdG}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}i\not{\!$		
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{dDG}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^Ai\bar{D}d_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$		
				$\mathcal{O}^L_{dGD}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A}$		

**Table 4.** Redundant LEFT operators of dimension five and six, which can be removed by field redefinitions but are required to renormalize off-shell Green's functions.

#### D.3 Evanescent operators

The LEFT Lagrangian is supplemented by evanescent operators and corresponding coefficients

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{evan}} = \sum_{i} K_i \mathcal{E}_i \,. \tag{D.1}$$

In the case of operators with at most two fermion fields, we provide an exhaustive list of evanescent operators in tables 5, 6, and 7. Not all of them are required independently as counterterms to one-loop insertions of physical operators, e.g., the operators  $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma'}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{G'}$  are not required for the renormalization of the physical operators at one loop [60]. In the case of evanescent four-fermion operators, the complete basis contains infinitely many elements and we only list the operators required as counterterms to one-loop insertions of physical operators are listed in tables 9 and 10. Fierz-evanescent operators are listed in tables 9 and 11.

$( u u)D +  ext{h.c.}$	$(\overline{L}R)D + \text{h.c.}$		$X^2$
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D} \left[ \nu_{Lp}^T C(i\hat{\partial}) \nu_{Lr} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}_{eD} \left  \bar{e}_{Lp}(i\hat{D}) e_{Rr} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$	$F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} - \overline{F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}}$
	$\mathcal{E}_{uD} \left  \bar{u}_{Lp}(i\hat{D}) u_{Rr} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_G$	$G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu} - \overline{G^A_{\mu\nu}G^{A\mu\nu}}$
	$\mathcal{E}_{dD} \left  \bar{d}_{Lp}(i\hat{D}) d_{Rr} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_{\gamma'}$	$\hat{F}_{\mu u}\hat{F}^{\mu u}$
		$\mathcal{E}_{G'}$	$\hat{G}^A_{\mu u}\hat{G}^{A\mu u}$

Table 5. Evanescent LEFT operators of dimension four in the HV scheme.

$(\overline{L}L)D^2$ $(\overline{R}R)D^2$		(1	$(\nu\nu)D^2 + \text{h.c.}$	(1	$(\overline{L}R)D^2 + \text{h.c.}$		
$\mathcal{E}^L_{\nu D}$	$\bar{\nu}_{Lp}[(i\hat{\not}),(i\bar{\not})]\nu_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{eD}$	$\bar{e}_{Rp}[(i\hat{D}),(i\bar{D})]e_{Rr}$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D}^{RL}$	$\nu_{Lp}^T C(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})\nu_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{E}_{eD}^{LR}$	$\bar{e}_{Lp}(i\hat{D})(i\hat{D})e_{Rr}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{eD}$	$\bar{e}_{Lp}[(i\hat{D}),(i\bar{D})]e_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{uD}$	$\bar{u}_{Rp}[(i\hat{\not}D),(i\bar{\not}D)]u_{Rr}$			$\mathcal{E}_{uD}^{LR}$	$\left  \bar{u}_{Lp}(i\hat{D})(i\hat{D})u_{Rr} \right $
$\mathcal{E}^L_{uD}$	$\bar{u}_{Lp}[(i\hat{\not}D),(i\bar{\not}D)]u_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{dD}$	$\left  \bar{d}_{Rp}[(i\hat{\not}D),(i\bar{\not}D)] d_{Rr} \right $			$\mathcal{E}_{dD}^{LR}$	$\left  \bar{d}_{Lp}(i\hat{D})(i\hat{D}) d_{Rr} \right $
$\mathcal{E}^L_{dD}$	$\bar{d}_{Lp}[(i\hat{D}),(i\bar{D})]d_{Lr}$						

	$(\overline{L}L)X$		$(\overline{R}R)X$		$( u u)X+ ext{h.c.}$		$(\overline{L}R)X + \text{h.c.}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{ u\gamma}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{e\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{RL}_{ u\gamma}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{e\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{e\gamma}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{u\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$			$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{u\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{u\gamma}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{d\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$			$\mathcal{E}_{d\gamma}^{LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{d\gamma}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{uG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$			$\mathcal{E}_{uG}^{LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{uG}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{dG}$	$\left(\bar{d}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}\right)$			$\mathcal{E}_{dG}^{LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{dG}^{L}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$						

Table 6. Evanescent LEFT operators of dimension five in the HV scheme.

$(\overline{L}L)D^3$	$(\overline{L}L)XD$	$(\overline{R}R)XD$	$(\overline{L}R)XD + h.c.$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{\nu D1}  \bar{\nu}_{Lp}(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})\nu_{Lr}$	$\mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma1}^{L} \qquad (\bar{\nu}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\partial}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nu_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{De\gamma 1}^{R} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{D}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{De\gamma1}^{LR} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{D}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{eD1} \left  \bar{e}_{Lp}(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})e_{Li} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma2}^{L} \left[ (\bar{\nu}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\hat{\phi}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{De\gamma2} = (\bar{e}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{\hat{D}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{De\gamma2}^{LR} = (\bar{e}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\hat{D}}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}^L_{uD1} \left  \bar{u}_{Lp}(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})u_{Lt} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D\gamma 1}^{L} = (\bar{\nu}_{Lp} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} i \bar{\partial} \nu_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{eD\gamma1} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not\!\!\!D}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{De\gamma3}^{LR} = (\bar{e}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\bar{D}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{dD1}^{L} \left  \bar{d}_{Lp}(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})(i\hat{\not})d_{Li} \right $	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D\gamma 2}^{L} = (\bar{\nu}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} i \hat{\partial} \nu_{Lr}) F^{\mu \nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{eD\gamma2} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}i\hat{D}\!\!\!/ e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{eD\gamma1}^{LR} = (\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{D}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{\nu\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{e\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{eD\gamma2} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{\not\!\!D}e_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$(\overline{R}R)D^3$	$\mathcal{E}_{De\gamma 1}^{L} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp}i\overline{\not{p}}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{Du\gamma1} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Rp}i\overleftarrow{D}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{eD\gamma3} = (\bar{e}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \bar{\not{D}} e_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
$\frac{\mathcal{E}^{R}}{\mathcal{E}^{R} = \bar{\mathcal{E}}_{R_{-}}(i\vec{\hbar})(i\vec{\hbar})(i\vec{\hbar})e_{R_{-}}}$	$= \mathcal{E}_{De\gamma2}^{L} \left[ (\bar{e}_{Lp}i\hat{\vec{\mathcal{D}}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{Du\gamma2} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Rp}i\dot{\vec{D}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{e\gamma D1} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} e_{Rr}) (\partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$
$\mathcal{E}_{eD1}^{R} = \frac{\bar{v}_{Rp}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})}{\bar{v}_{Rp}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})u_{Rp}}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{eD\gamma1} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not{D}}e_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{uD\gamma1} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not\!\!D}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{e\gamma D2} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} e_{Rr}) (\hat{\partial}_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$
$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{iD1} = \frac{\bar{d}_{Rp}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})}{\bar{d}_{Pr}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})d_{Pr}}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{eD\gamma2} = (\bar{e}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \hat{D} e_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{uD\gamma2} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Rp}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}i\hat{D}\!\!\!/ u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Du\gamma1}^{LR} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Lp}i \overleftrightarrow{D} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{C}_{dD1}   \mathcal{C}_{Rp} (\mathcal{C}_{P}) (\mathcal{C}_{P}) (\mathcal{C}_{P}) \mathcal{C}_{Rn}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{e\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$ \mathcal{E}^R_{u\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Rp} \bar{\gamma}_\nu u_{Rr}) (\hat{\partial}_\mu F^{\mu\nu}) $	$\mathcal{E}_{Du\gamma2}^{LR} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}i \overleftarrow{D} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
	$\mathcal{E}_{Du\gamma1}^{L} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\not{p}}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{Dd\gamma 1} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Rp}i \overleftarrow{D} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Du\gamma3}^{LR} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{b}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$(\nu\nu)D^3 + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Du\gamma2}^{L} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}i\hat{\not{D}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{Dd\gamma2} = (\bar{d}_{Rp}i\dot{\vec{D}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{uD\gamma1}^{LR} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{\not\!\!D}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D1}^{RL} \left  \nu_{Lp}^T C(i\bar{\phi})(i\hat{\phi})(i\bar{\phi}) \nu_{Lr} \right $	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{uD\gamma1} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not\!\!D}u_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{dD\gamma 1} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not\!\!D}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{uD\gamma2} = (\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{\not\!\!\!D}u_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D2}^{RL} \left  \nu_{Lp}^T C(i\hat{\vartheta})(i\hat{\vartheta})(i\hat{\vartheta}) \nu_{Lr} \right $	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{uD\gamma2} = (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \hat{\not{D}} u_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{dD\gamma2} = (\bar{d}_{Rp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \hat{D} d_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{uD\gamma3} = (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \bar{\not{D}} u_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{u\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{d\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Rp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{u\gamma D1} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Rr}) (\partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$
$(\overline{L}R)D^3 + h.c.$	$\mathcal{E}_{Dd\gamma 1}^{L} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp}i \overleftrightarrow{D} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{DuG1} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Rp}i \not\!$	$\mathcal{E}_{u\gamma D2}^{LR} \qquad (\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$
$\frac{\mathcal{E}^{LR}}{\mathcal{E}^{LR}} = \bar{e}_{Ln} (i\bar{\mathcal{D}}) (i\bar{\mathcal{D}}) (i\bar{\mathcal{D}}) e_{Rn}$	$= \mathcal{E}_{Dd\gamma2}^{L} \left[ (\bar{d}_{Lp}i\hat{\vec{p}}i\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{DuG2} \left( \bar{u}_{Rp} i \dot{\vec{D}} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} u_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Dd\gamma1}^{LR} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp}i\overleftarrow{\not{D}}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$ \begin{array}{c c} \mathcal{E}_{eD1}^{LR} & \mathcal{E}_{Ln}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})e_{R} \\ \mathcal{E}_{ED1}^{LR} & \bar{e}_{Ln}(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})(i\hat{\mathcal{D}})e_{R} \end{array} $	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{dD\gamma 1} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\bar{\not{D}}d_{Lr})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{uDG1}  (\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}i\bar{\not\!\!D}u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Dd\gamma2}^{LR} = (\bar{d}_{Lp}i \overleftarrow{D} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{eD2}^{LR} = \frac{\bar{\nu}_{LP}(\bar{\mu})(\bar{\mu})(\bar{\mu})(\bar{\mu})u_{P}}{\mathcal{E}_{eD2}^{LR}}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{dD\gamma2} = (\bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \hat{D} d_{Lr}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{uDG2} \left( \bar{u}_{Rp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} i \hat{\not{D}} u_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{Dd\gamma3}^{LR} = (\bar{d}_{Lp}i\overline{\not\!$
$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{D0} = \frac{\bar{u}_{Ln}(i\hat{D})(i\hat{D})(i\hat{D})u_R}{\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{D0}}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{d\gamma D} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lr})(\hat{\partial}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{uGD} \mid (\bar{u}_{Rp} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} u_{Rr}) (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^{A}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{dD\gamma 1} = (\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{\not{D}}d_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{ID1}^{LR} = \frac{\bar{d}_{LP}(\bar{D})(\bar{D})(i\bar{D})(i\bar{D})}{\bar{d}_{LP}(i\bar{D})(i\bar{D})(i\bar{D})d_{Ri}}$	$\mathcal{E}_{DuG1}^{L} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \vec{b} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^{A} u_{Lr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{DdG1} \left[ (\bar{d}_{Rp} i \overleftarrow{\not{D}} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^{A} d_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}_{dD\gamma2}^{LR} = (\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}i\hat{D}_{Rr})F^{\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{E}_{dD2}^{LR} = \begin{bmatrix} I_P(1)(1) \\ I_P(1)(\hat{D})(\hat{D})(\hat{D}) \\ \hat{D} \end{bmatrix} d_{R_1}$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{DuG2} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{\vec{p}} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} u_{Lr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{DdG2} \left( \bar{d}_{Rp} i \hat{\not{D}} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} d_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{dD\gamma3} = (\bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \bar{\not{D}} d_{Rr}) F^{\mu\nu}$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{uDG1} \mid (\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}i\bar{\not{D}}u_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{dDG1}  (\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}i\bar{\not\!\!D}d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{d\gamma D1} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Rr}) (\partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{uDG2} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} i \hat{D} u_{Lr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$	$\mathcal{E}^{R}_{dDG2} \left( \bar{d}_{Rp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} i \hat{D} d_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{d\gamma D2} \qquad (\bar{d}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Rr}) (\hat{\partial}_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{uGD} \mid (\bar{u}_{Lp} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} u_{Lr}) (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^{A} \leftarrow$	$\mathcal{E}^R_{dGD} \mid (\bar{d}_{Rp} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^A$	$\mathcal{E}_{DuG1}^{LR} \left( \bar{u}_{Lp} i \overset{\circ}{\not{D}} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^A u_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$
	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{DdG1} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp} i \not\!$		$\mathcal{E}_{DuG2}^{LR} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{D} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^A u_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$
	$\mathcal{E}_{DdG2}^{L} \left( \bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{D} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^{A} d_{Lr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$	$(\nu\nu)XD + h.c.$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{DuG3} \left[ (\bar{u}_{Lp} i \overleftarrow{\bar{p}} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A u_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right]$
$\mathbf{v}^2 \mathbf{D}^2$	$\mathcal{E}^{L}_{dDG1}  (\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}i\bar{\not{D}}d_{Lr})G^{A\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{RL}^{RL} = (\nu_{\tau}^{T} C_{i} \hat{\partial}_{\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nu_{Ln}}) F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{uDG1}  (\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i\hat{D}\!\!\!/ u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$(\hat{a}, E\mu\nu)(a\lambda E)$	$ \qquad \qquad$	$\mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma1}^{RL} = (\nu_{T}^{T} C_{i}\hat{\partial}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nu_{L})F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{uDG2}  (\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i\hat{\not\!\!D} u_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$\mathcal{C}_{\gamma D1}$ $(\mathcal{O}_{\mu}F^{\nu})(\mathcal{O}^{\mu}F_{\lambda\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dGD}^{L} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\hat{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^{A}$	$\mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma2}^{RL} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\nu} & \nu_{Lr} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\nu} & \nu_{Lr} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\nu} & \nu_{Lr} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\nu} & \nu_{\mu} & \nu_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\mu} & \nu$	$\mathcal{E}_{uDG3}^{LR} \left( \bar{u}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A i \bar{\not{D}} u_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu}$
$\begin{array}{c c} c_{\gamma D2} & g_{\nu\sigma}(\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu})(\partial_{\lambda}F^{\mu\nu}) \\ c_{\gamma} & c_{\gamma} & c_{\gamma} \\ c_{\gamma} \\$	)	$\mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma3}^{RL} = \begin{pmatrix} \nu_{Lp} & \nu_{\ell} & \nu_{\ell} & \nu_{\ell} \\ \mathcal{E}_{D\nu\gamma3}^{RL} & (\nu_{Lp}^T & C\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\nu}) & \hat{\partial} \nu_{Lp} \end{pmatrix} F^{\mu\nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{uGD1}^{LR} \left( \bar{u}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A u_{Rr} \right) (D_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^A$
$ \left[ \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\mu} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\lambda} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\lambda} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\lambda} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \partial^{\lambda} F^{\mu\nu} \end{pmatrix} $		$ \begin{array}{c} \varepsilon_{\nu D \gamma 1} \\ \mathcal{E}^{RL} \\ \mathcal{E}^{RL} \\ \mathcal{E}^{RL} \\ \mathcal{E}^{RL} \\ \mathcal{E}^{T} \\ \mathcal{E}^{\sigma} \\ \mathcal{E}^{\mu \nu} \\ \mathcal{E}^{\sigma} \\$	$\mathcal{E}_{uGD2}^{LR} \mid (\bar{u}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A u_{Rr}) (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^A \longleftrightarrow$
$ \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma D4} \\ \mathcal{E}_{\nabla D4} \\ \mathcal{E}_{\nabla T} \end{array} \left( \begin{array}{c} (\partial_{\mu} \Gamma^{\mu}) (\partial^{\mu} \Gamma_{\lambda \nu}) \\ (\partial_{\mu} \hat{\Gamma}^{\mu \nu}) (\partial^{\lambda} \hat{F}_{\nu}) \end{array} \right) $		$\mathcal{E}_{\nu D\gamma 2}^{RL} = \left( \nu_{L}^{T} C_{i} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} i \bar{\partial} \nu_{L} \right) F^{\mu \nu}$	$\mathcal{E}_{DdG1}^{LR} \left( \bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{\not{D}} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^A d_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu} \leftarrow$
$ \begin{array}{c} \varepsilon_{\gamma D 5} \\ \varepsilon_{C D 1} \\ \hline (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu \nu})^{A} (D^{\lambda} G, \end{array} $	A	$\mathcal{E}_{uvD1}^{RL} \left( \nu_{Lv}^T C \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} \nu_{Lv}) (\partial_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu}) \right)$	$\mathcal{E}_{DdG2}^{LR} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{\not{D}} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu} $
$\mathcal{E}_{CD2} = \hat{a}_{\nu\sigma} (D_{\nu} G^{\mu\nu})^A (D_{\nu} G^{\lambda\nu})^{\lambda\sigma}$	$\sigma_{A}^{A}$ $X^{3}$	$\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu}^{RL} \mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu}^{RL} (\nu_{L\nu}^T C \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} \nu_{L\nu}) (\hat{\partial}_{\mu} F^{\mu\nu})$	$\mathcal{E}_{DdG3}^{LR} \left  (\bar{d}_{Lp} i  \bar{\not{D}} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) G^{A\mu\nu} \right  $
$\mathcal{E}_{GD3} = (\hat{D}_{\mu}\hat{G}^{\mu\nu})^A (D^{\lambda}G)$	$A \qquad \overline{\mathcal{E}_{G1}} \hat{g}^{\rho\sigma} f^{ABC} G^{A\nu}_{\mu} G^B_{\nu\sigma} G^{C\mu}_{\rho}$	vyD2   × Lp · Drive /	$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{dDG1} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i\hat{D} d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$ \begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}_{GD4} & (\hat{D}_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu})^A (\hat{D}^{\lambda}G_{\lambda\nu}) \end{aligned} $	$\mathcal{E}_{G2} = f^{ABC} G^{A\nu}_{\mu} G^{B\rho}_{\nu} \hat{G}^{C\mu}_{\rho}$		$\mathcal{E}^{LR}_{dDG2} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^A i\hat{\not{D}} d_{Rr})G^{A\mu\nu}$
$\left. \begin{array}{c} \mathcal{E}_{GD5} \\ \mathcal{E}_{GD5} \\ \mathcal{E}_{GD5} \\ \end{array} \right  (\hat{D}_{\mu} \hat{G}^{\mu\nu})^A (\hat{D}^{\lambda} \hat{G}_{\lambda\mu})$	$A \qquad \mathcal{E}_{G3}  f^{ABC} \hat{G}^{A\nu}_{\mu} \hat{G}^{B\rho}_{\nu} \hat{G}^{C\mu}_{\rho}$		$\mathcal{E}_{dDG3}^{LR} \left  \left( \bar{d}_{Lp} i \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A i D d_{Rr} \right) G^{A\mu\nu} \right $
	$\mathcal{E}_{\widetilde{G}}\left[\hat{g}^{ ho\sigma}f^{ABC}\widetilde{G}^{A u}_{\mu}G^{B}_{\nu\sigma}G^{C\mu}_{ ho} ight.$		$\mathcal{E}_{dGD1}^{LR} \mid (\bar{d}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) (D_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^A$
			$\mathcal{E}_{dGD2}^{LR} \left  (\bar{d}_{Lp} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} T^A d_{Rr}) (\hat{D}_{\mu} G^{\mu\nu})^A \right $

**Table 7.** Evanescent LEFT operators of dimension six in the HV scheme containing at most twofermion fields.

6
$\square$
H-T-L
E
Ы
$\bigcirc$
$\mathbb{N}$
$\frown$
$\mathbb{N}$
$\bigcirc$
$\mathbb{N}$
Þ
$\bigcirc$
0
$\odot$

	$(\overline{L}L)(\overline{L}L)$		$(\overline{L}L)(\overline{R}R)$		$(\overline{L}R)(\overline{L}R) + { m h.c.}$
$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(1),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{S(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}e_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(2),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(2),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{S(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(1),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{T(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}e_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(2),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(2),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{T(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}e_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(1),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{S(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(2),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(2),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{S(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(1),LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt}) + h.c.$	$\mathcal{E}_{ue}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{T(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(2),LL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ue}^{V(2),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{T(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{de}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{S(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{de}^{V(2),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{S(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(2),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(1),LR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{T(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(2),LL}$	$\left(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Lt})\right.$	$\mathcal{E}^{V(2),LR}_{\nu edu}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{T(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(1),LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(1),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S(1),RR}_{\nu edu}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(1),LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(2),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S(2),RR}_{\nu edu}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(2),LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(1),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{T(1),RR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(2),LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(2),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{T(2),RR}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V1(1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V1(1),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{S1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V1(2),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V1(2),LR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{S1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V8(1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V8(1),LR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(1),RR}_{uu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V8(2),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V8(2),LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(2),RR}_{uu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}^{V1(1),LL}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{V1(1),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{T1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}^{V8(1),LL}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{V1(2),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{T8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rt})$
		$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{V8(1),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^A d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^A u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{T1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}u_{Rt})$
	$(\overline{R}R)(\overline{R}R)$	$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{V8(2),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{T8(2),RR}$	$\left(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}T^{A}u_{Rr}\right)(\bar{u}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}T^{A}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(1),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S1(1),RR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{V(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(2),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S1(2),RR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(1),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(1),RR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{V(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(2),LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(2),RR}_{ud}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V1(1),LR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{T1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{V(2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V1(2),LR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{T8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}T^A u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}T^A d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V8(1),LR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{T1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V8(2),LR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{T8(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}T^{A}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}u_{Rt})$			$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{V8(2),RR}$	$\left(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rr}\right)\left(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rt}\right)$		$(\overline{L}R)(\overline{R}L)$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{S(1),RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{S(1),RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S8(2),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}T^A d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{eu}^{S(2),RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{T1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{V8(2),RR}$	$\left(\bar{d}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rt})\right)$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{S(1),RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{T8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ed}^{S(2),RL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}d_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{T1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V1(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{S(1),RL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{T8(2),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\sigma}^{\lambda\rho}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\sigma}_{\lambda\rho}T^{A}d_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{S(2),RL}$	$(\bar{\nu}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}^{S1(1),RR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{V8(2),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}\bar{\gamma}^{\lambda}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}\bar{\gamma}_{\lambda}T^{A}d_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S1(1),RL}_{uu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S1(2),RR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{V1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{S8(1),RL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(1),RR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A u_{Rt})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{V8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{S1(1),RL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}^{S8(2),RR}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\hat{\gamma}^{\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\hat{\gamma}_{\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt})$
		$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{S8(1),RL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A d_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$	$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{T1(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}u_{Rt})$
		$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S1(1),RL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{T8(1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda}T^A u_{Rt})$
		$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{S8(1),RL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A d_{Lt})$		
		$\mathcal{E}^{S1(1),RL}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$		
		$\mathcal{E}^{S8(1),RL}_{uddu}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}T^A d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}T^A u_{Lt}) + \text{h.c.}$		
			-		

**Table 8.** Evanescent four-fermion LEFT operators other than Fierz-evanescent ones that appear at one loop in the HV scheme and conserve baryon and lepton number.

## $(\overline{L}L)[\overline{L}L] - (\overline{L}L][\overline{L}L)$

$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{(F1),LL}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Lt}) - (\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lt})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F1),LL}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt}) - 2(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F1),LL}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Lt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr}) - \frac{1}{N}(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Lr})$

#### $(\overline{R}R)[\overline{R}R] - (\overline{R}R][\overline{R}R)$

$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{(F1),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt}) - (\bar{e}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Rt})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F1),RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt}) - 2(\bar{d}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F1),RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt}) - 2(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Rp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rr})$

#### $(\overline{L}L)[\overline{R}R] - (\overline{L}R][\overline{R}L)$

$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{(F1),LR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}e_{Lr})(\bar{e}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}e_{Rt}) + 2(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rt})(\bar{e}_{Rs}e_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F1)1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}T^{A}u_{Lr}) + \frac{2}{N_{e}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F1)8,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) - \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}T^{A}u_{Lr}) + \frac{2C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F1)1,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}d_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F1)8,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt}) - \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}d_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F1)1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}u_{Lr}) + \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F1)8,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}u_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}d_{Rt}) - \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}u_{Lr}) + \frac{2C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}u_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{(F1)1,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}d_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{du}^{(F1)8,LR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{u}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) - \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Rs}d_{Lr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F1)1,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}d_{Lr}) + \text{h.c.}$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F1)8,LR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\gamma^{\mu}T^{A}d_{Lr})(\bar{d}_{Rs}\gamma_{\mu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) - \frac{2}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}T^{A}d_{Lr}) + \frac{2C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Rs}d_{Lr}) + \text{h.c.}$

#### $(\overline{L}R)[\overline{L}R]-(\overline{L}R][\overline{L}R)+{\rm h.c.}$

$\mathcal{E}_{ee}^{(F2),RR}$	$(\bar{e}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rr})(\bar{e}_{Ls}e_{Rt}) + 8(\bar{e}_{Lp}e_{Rt})(\bar{e}_{Ls}e_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F2)1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}u_{Rt}) + 16(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^A u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}T^A u_{Rr}) + \frac{8}{N_c}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uu}^{(F2)8,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + \frac{8C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}u_{Rr}) - \frac{8}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{u}_{Ls}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{u}_{Ls}T^{A}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F2)1,RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rt}) + 16(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^Ad_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^Ad_{Rr}) + \frac{8}{N_c}(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{dd}^{(F2)8,RR}$	$(\bar{d}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}d_{Rt}) + \frac{8C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rr}) - \frac{8}{N_{c}}(\bar{d}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}d_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F2)1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rt}) + 16(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^Ad_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^Au_{Rr}) + \frac{8}{N_c}(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{ud}^{(F2)8,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}d_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}d_{Rt}) + \frac{8C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}u_{Rr}) - \frac{8}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}u_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F2)1,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}u_{Rt}) + 16(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^Au_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^Ad_{Rr}) + \frac{8}{N_c}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rr})$
$\mathcal{E}_{uddu}^{(F2)8,RR}$	$(\bar{u}_{Lp}\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + 4(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}d_{Rr})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}u_{Rt}) + \frac{8C_{F}}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}d_{Rr}) - \frac{1}{N_{c}}(\bar{u}_{Lp}T^{A}u_{Rt})(\bar{d}_{Ls}T^{A}d_{Rr})$

**Table 9.** Fierz-evanescent LEFT operators that appear at one loop in the HV scheme and conserve baryon and lepton number. Light gray operators are not needed as divergent counterterms and we do not insert them into loops, but it is convenient to keep them for the extraction of finite counterterms.

$\Delta L = 2 + { m h.c.}$		$\Delta B = \Delta L = 1 +  ext{h.c.}$		$\Delta B = -\Delta L = 1 +  ext{h.c.}$	
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu e}^{T(1),LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^\mu \bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_\mu \bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda} e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{udd}^{S(T),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}d_{Lr}^{\beta})(d_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\nu_{Lt})$	$\overline{\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{V(1),LL}} \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Lt}^{\gamma})$	
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu u}^{T(1),LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{u}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V(1),LL}_{udd}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}d_{Lr}^{\beta})(d_{Rs}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{udd}^{S(T),LR} \left[ \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Rt}^{\gamma}) \right]$	
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu d}^{T(1),LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda} \nu_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda} d_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{dud}^{V(1),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d^{\alpha T}_{Rp}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u^{\beta}_{Lr})(d^{\gamma T}_{Rs}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}\nu_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud\nu d}^{V(1),LL} \left  \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (u_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Lt}^{\gamma}) \right $	
$\mathcal{E}^{S(1),LL}_{\nu edu}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^\mu e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_\mu u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{S(T),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Lr}^{\beta})(u_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{V(1),LL} \left  \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Lt}^{\gamma}) \right $	
$\mathcal{E}^{S(2),LL}_{\nu edu}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \hat{\gamma}^{\nu} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{V(1),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d^{\alpha T}_{Rp}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u^{\beta}_{Lr})(u^{\gamma T}_{Rs}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{V(1),LR} \left  \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Rt}^{\gamma}) \right $	
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{T(1),LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\sigma}^{\nu\lambda} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\sigma}_{\nu\lambda} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V(1),LR}_{uud}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u^{\alpha T}_{Rp}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u^{\beta}_{Lr})(d^{\gamma T}_{Ls}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S(T),RR}_{udd} \mid \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (u^{\alpha T}_{Rp} C \hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d^{\beta}_{Rr}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d^{\gamma}_{Rt})$	
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{T(2),LL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \hat{\gamma}^{\nu} \bar{\sigma}^{\lambda \rho} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} \bar{\sigma}_{\lambda \rho} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{S(T),LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Lr}^{\beta})(u_{Rs}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ud\nu d}^{V(1),RL} \left  \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} d_{Lt}^{\gamma}) \right.$	
$\mathcal{E}^{S(1),LR}_{\nu edu}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{V(1),LR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d^{\alpha T}_{Rp}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u^{\beta}_{Lr})(u^{\gamma T}_{Ls}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$		
$\mathcal{E}^{S(2),LR}_{\nu edu}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \hat{\gamma}^{\nu} e_{Lr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{V(1),RL}_{uud}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u_{Rr}^{\beta})(d_{Rs}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(1),RL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{S(T),RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} e_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(2),RL}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \hat{\gamma}^{\nu} \bar{\gamma}^{\lambda} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Ls} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} \bar{\gamma}_{\lambda} u_{Lt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{V(1),RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d^{\alpha T}_{Lp} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} u^{\beta}_{Rr}) (u^{\gamma T}_{Rs} C \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} e_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(1),RR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}^{S(T),RL}_{dud}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (d_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lt})$		
$\mathcal{E}_{\nu edu}^{V(2),RR}$	$(\nu_{Lp}^T C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \hat{\gamma}^{\nu} \bar{\gamma}^{\lambda} e_{Rr}) (\bar{d}_{Rs} \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \hat{\gamma}_{\nu} \bar{\gamma}_{\lambda} u_{Rt})$	$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{V(1),RL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} (d^{\alpha T}_{Lp} C \hat{\gamma}^{\mu} \bar{\gamma}^{\nu} d^{\beta}_{Rr}) (u^{\gamma T}_{Rs} C \hat{\gamma}_{\mu} \bar{\gamma}_{\nu} \nu_{Lt})$		
		$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{S(T),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d_{Rp}^{\alpha T}C\hat{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Rr}^{\beta})(u_{Rs}^{\gamma T}C\hat{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Rt})$		
		$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{V(1),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(d^{\alpha T}_{Lp}C\hat{\gamma}^{\mu}\bar{\gamma}^{\nu}u^{\beta}_{Rr})(u^{\gamma T}_{Ls}C\hat{\gamma}_{\mu}\bar{\gamma}_{\nu}e_{Rt})$		

**Table 10.** Evanescent four-fermion LEFT operators other than Fierz-evanescent ones that appear atone loop in the HV scheme and violate baryon and/or lepton number.

 $\Delta B = \Delta L = 1 + \text{h.c.}$ 

$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{(F),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (u_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) - (u_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (d_{Lp}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) + (u_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lp}^{\beta}) (d_{Lr}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{uud}^{(F),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Lr}^{\beta}) (d_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C e_{Lt}) - (d_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C u_{Lr}^{\beta}) (u_{Lp}^{\gamma T} C e_{Lt}) + (d_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C u_{Lp}^{\beta}) (u_{Lr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Lt}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{uud}^{(F),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (u_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (d_{Rs}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rp}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rp}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{(F2),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (u_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lt}) - 4 (u_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (d_{Lp}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) - 4 (u_{Ls}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lp}^{\beta}) (d_{Lr}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{uud}^{(F2),LL}$	$\left \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}\left[\left(u_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Lr}^{\beta}\right)\left(d_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Lt}\right)-4\left(d_{Ls}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lr}^{\beta}\right)\left(u_{Lp}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt}\right)-4\left(d_{Ls}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lp}^{\beta}\right)\left(u_{Lr}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt}\right)\right]\right $
$\mathcal{E}_{uud}^{(F2),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (u_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (d_{Rs}^{\gamma T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rp}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rp}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) \Big] \Big] \Big] + \frac{1}{2} \left[ (u_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) \Big] \Big] \Big] \Big] + \frac{1}{2} \left[ (u_{Rr}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rs}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) \Big] $
$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{(F2),LL}$	$\left \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}\left[\left(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}C\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}u_{Lr}^{\beta}\right)\left(u_{Ls}^{\gamma T}C\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}e_{Lt}\right)-4\left(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Lr}^{\beta}\right)\left(u_{Ls}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt}\right)+8\left(d_{Lp}^{\alpha T}Cu_{Ls}^{\beta}\right)\left(u_{Lr}^{\gamma T}Ce_{Lt}\right)\right]\right]$
$\mathcal{E}_{duu}^{(F2),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rs}^{\gamma T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} e_{Rt}) - 4 (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rs}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + 8 (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) \Big] \Big] \Big] + 2 \left[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rr}^{\beta}) (u_{Rs}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}^{\beta}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}) (u_{Rr}^{\gamma T} C e_{Rt}) + (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C u_{Rs}) + (d_{Rp}$
$\mathcal{E}_{udd}^{(F2),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \left[ (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (d_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} \nu_{Lt}) - 4 (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (d_{Ls}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) + 8 (u_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Ls}^{\beta}) (d_{Lr}^{\gamma T} C \nu_{Lt}) \right]$

 $\Delta B = -\Delta L = 1 + \text{h.c.}$ 

$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{(F),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \left[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} u_{Rt}^{\gamma}) - (u_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} d_{Rp}^{\gamma}) + (u_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rp}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} d_{Rr}^{\gamma}) \right]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{(F),LL}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} d_{Lt}^{\gamma}) - (d_{Lt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} d_{Lp}^{\gamma}) + (d_{Lt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lp}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Rs} d_{Lr}^{\gamma}) \Big] \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{(F),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} d_{Rt}^{\gamma}) - (d_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} d_{Rp}^{\gamma}) + (d_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rp}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} d_{Rr}^{\gamma}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddu}^{(F2),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \left[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} u_{Rt}^{\gamma}) + 4 (u_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} d_{Rp}^{\gamma}) + 4 (u_{Rt}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rp}^{\beta}) (\bar{\nu}_{Ls} d_{Rr}^{\gamma}) \right]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{(F2),LL}$	$\left[ \left( d_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Lr}^{\beta} \right) (\bar{e}_{Rs} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Lt}^{\gamma}) - 4 \left( d_{Lr}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lt}^{\beta} \right) (\bar{e}_{Rs} d_{Lp}^{\gamma}) - 4 \left( d_{Lp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Lt}^{\beta} \right) (\bar{e}_{Rs} d_{Lr}^{\gamma}) \right]^{-1} \right]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ddd}^{(F2),RR}$	$\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \Big[ (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C \bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} d_{Rr}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} \bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu} d_{Rt}^{\gamma}) - 4 (d_{Rr}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rt}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} d_{Rp}^{\gamma}) - 4 (d_{Rp}^{\alpha T} C d_{Rt}^{\beta}) (\bar{e}_{Ls} d_{Rr}^{\gamma}) \Big]$
$\mathcal{E}_{udd}^{(F2),RR}$	$\left \epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma}\left[(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}C\bar{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}d_{Rr}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}\bar{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})+4(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rr}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}d_{Rt}^{\gamma})-8(u_{Rp}^{\alpha T}Cd_{Rt}^{\beta})(\bar{\nu}_{Ls}d_{Rr}^{\gamma})\right]\right $

**Table 11.** Fierz-evanescent LEFT operators that appear at one loop in the HV scheme and violate baryon and/or lepton number. Light gray operators are not needed as divergent counterterms and we do not insert them into loops, but it is convenient to keep them for the extraction of finite counterterms.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- W. Buchmüller and D. Wyler, Effective Lagrangian Analysis of New Interactions and Flavor Conservation, Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986) 621 [INSPIRE].
- [2] B. Grzadkowski, M. Iskrzyński, M. Misiak and J. Rosiek, Dimension-Six Terms in the Standard Model Lagrangian, JHEP 10 (2010) 085 [arXiv:1008.4884] [INSPIRE].
- [3] G. Isidori, F. Wilsch and D. Wyler, *The Standard Model effective field theory at work*, arXiv:2303.16922 [INSPIRE].
- [4] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and P. Stoffer, Low-Energy Effective Field Theory below the Electroweak Scale: Operators and Matching, JHEP 03 (2018) 016 [arXiv:1709.04486]
   [INSPIRE].
- [5] Y. Liao, X.-D. Ma and Q.-Y. Wang, Extending low energy effective field theory with a complete set of dimension-7 operators, JHEP 08 (2020) 162 [arXiv:2005.08013] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C.W. Murphy, Low-Energy Effective Field Theory below the Electroweak Scale: Dimension-8 Operators, JHEP 04 (2021) 101 [arXiv:2012.13291] [INSPIRE].
- [7] H.-L. Li et al., Low energy effective field theory operator basis at  $d \le 9$ , JHEP 06 (2021) 138 [arXiv:2012.09188] [INSPIRE].
- [8] W. Dekens and P. Stoffer, Low-energy effective field theory below the electroweak scale: matching at one loop, JHEP 10 (2019) 197 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2022) 148] [arXiv:1908.05295] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators I: Formalism and lambda Dependence, JHEP 10 (2013) 087
   [arXiv:1308.2627] [INSPIRE].
- [10] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators II: Yukawa Dependence, JHEP 01 (2014) 035
   [arXiv:1310.4838] [INSPIRE].
- [11] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators III: Gauge Coupling Dependence and Phenomenology, JHEP 04 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1312.2014] [INSPIRE].
- [12] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and P. Stoffer, Low-Energy Effective Field Theory below the Electroweak Scale: Anomalous Dimensions, JHEP 01 (2018) 084 [arXiv:1711.05270] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G. Altarelli, G. Curci, G. Martinelli and S. Petrarca, QCD Nonleading Corrections to Weak Decays as an Application of Regularization by Dimensional Reduction, Nucl. Phys. B 187 (1981) 461 [INSPIRE].
- [14] A.J. Buras and P.H. Weisz, QCD Nonleading Corrections to Weak Decays in Dimensional Regularization and 't Hooft-Veltman Schemes, Nucl. Phys. B 333 (1990) 66 [INSPIRE].
- [15] M.J. Dugan and B. Grinstein, On the vanishing of evanescent operators, Phys. Lett. B 256 (1991) 239 [INSPIRE].

- [16] A.J. Buras, M. Jamin, M.E. Lautenbacher and P.H. Weisz, Two loop anomalous dimension matrix for  $\Delta S = 1$  weak nonleptonic decays I:  $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$ , Nucl. Phys. B **400** (1993) 37 [hep-ph/9211304] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Ciuchini, E. Franco, G. Martinelli and L. Reina, The Delta S = 1 effective Hamiltonian including next-to-leading order QCD and QED corrections, Nucl. Phys. B 415 (1994) 403 [hep-ph/9304257] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Herrlich and U. Nierste, Evanescent operators, scheme dependences and double insertions, Nucl. Phys. B 455 (1995) 39 [hep-ph/9412375] [INSPIRE].
- [19] G. Buchalla, A.J. Buras and M.E. Lautenbacher, Weak decays beyond leading logarithms, Rev. Mod. Phys. 68 (1996) 1125 [hep-ph/9512380] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Ciuchini et al., Next-to-leading order QCD corrections to Delta F = 2 effective Hamiltonians, Nucl. Phys. B 523 (1998) 501 [hep-ph/9711402] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A.J. Buras, M. Misiak and J. Urban, Two loop QCD anomalous dimensions of flavor changing four quark operators within and beyond the standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 586 (2000) 397
   [hep-ph/0005183] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Misiak and M. Steinhauser, Three loop matching of the dipole operators for  $b \to s\gamma$  and  $b \to sg$ , Nucl. Phys. B 683 (2004) 277 [hep-ph/0401041] [INSPIRE].
- [23] M. Czakon, U. Haisch and M. Misiak, Four-Loop Anomalous Dimensions for Radiative Flavour-Changing Decays, JHEP 03 (2007) 008 [hep-ph/0612329] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Cirigliano, M. González-Alonso and M.L. Graesser, Non-standard Charged Current Interactions: beta decays versus the LHC, JHEP 02 (2013) 046 [arXiv:1210.4553] [INSPIRE].
- [25] W. Dekens and J. de Vries, Renormalization Group Running of Dimension-Six Sources of Parity and Time-Reversal Violation, JHEP 05 (2013) 149 [arXiv:1303.3156] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Heeck and W. Rodejohann, Neutrinoless Quadruple Beta Decay, EPL 103 (2013) 32001 [arXiv:1306.0580] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G.M. Pruna and A. Signer, The  $\mu \to e\gamma$  decay in a systematic effective field theory approach with dimension 6 operators, JHEP 10 (2014) 014 [arXiv:1408.3565] [INSPIRE].
- [28] T. Bhattacharya et al., Dimension-5 CP-odd operators: QCD mixing and renormalization, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 114026 [arXiv:1502.07325] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. Aebischer, A. Crivellin, M. Fael and C. Greub, Matching of gauge invariant dimension-six operators for  $b \rightarrow s$  and  $b \rightarrow c$  transitions, JHEP 05 (2016) 037 [arXiv:1512.02830] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S. Davidson,  $\mu \to e\gamma$  and matching at  $m_W$ , Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 370 [arXiv:1601.07166] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Feruglio, P. Paradisi and A. Pattori, *Revisiting Lepton Flavor Universality in B Decays*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **118** (2017) 011801 [arXiv:1606.00524] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Crivellin, S. Davidson, G.M. Pruna and A. Signer, *Renormalisation-group improved analysis* of  $\mu \rightarrow e$  processes in a systematic effective-field-theory approach, *JHEP* **05** (2017) 117 [arXiv:1702.03020] [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Bordone, G. Isidori and S. Trifinopoulos, Semileptonic B-physics anomalies: A general EFT analysis within U(2)<sup>n</sup> flavor symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 015038 [arXiv:1702.07238]
   [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Misiak, A. Rehman and M. Steinhauser, NNLO QCD counterterm contributions to  $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ for the physical value of  $m_c$ , Phys. Lett. B 770 (2017) 431 [arXiv:1702.07674] [INSPIRE].

- [35] V. Cirigliano, S. Davidson and Y. Kuno, Spin-dependent  $\mu \rightarrow e$  conversion, Phys. Lett. B 771 (2017) 242 [arXiv:1703.02057] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J. Fuentes-Martín, P. Ruiz-Femenía, A. Vicente and J. Virto, DsixTools 2.0: The Effective Field Theory Toolkit, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 167 [arXiv:2010.16341] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Aebischer, M. Fael, C. Greub and J. Virto, B physics Beyond the Standard Model at One Loop: Complete Renormalization Group Evolution below the Electroweak Scale, JHEP 09 (2017) 158 [arXiv:1704.06639] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. González-Alonso, J. Martin Camalich and K. Mimouni, Renormalization-group evolution of new physics contributions to (semi)leptonic meson decays, Phys. Lett. B 772 (2017) 777 [arXiv:1706.00410] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Falkowski, M. González-Alonso and K. Mimouni, Compilation of low-energy constraints on 4-fermion operators in the SMEFT, JHEP 08 (2017) 123 [arXiv:1706.03783] [INSPIRE].
- [40] G. Panico, A. Pomarol and M. Riembau, EFT approach to the electron Electric Dipole Moment at the two-loop level, JHEP 04 (2019) 090 [arXiv:1810.09413] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M.B. Gavela, P. Hernandez, J. Orloff and O. Pene, Standard model CP violation and baryon asymmetry, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 9 (1994) 795 [hep-ph/9312215] [INSPIRE].
- [42] M.B. Gavela, M. Lozano, J. Orloff and O. Pene, Standard model CP violation and baryon asymmetry. Part 1: Zero temperature, Nucl. Phys. B 430 (1994) 345 [hep-ph/9406288]
   [INSPIRE].
- [43] M.B. Gavela et al., Standard model CP violation and baryon asymmetry. Part 2: Finite temperature, Nucl. Phys. B 430 (1994) 382 [hep-ph/9406289] [INSPIRE].
- [44] P. Huet and E. Sather, Electroweak baryogenesis and standard model CP violation, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 379 [hep-ph/9404302] [INSPIRE].
- [45] F. Jegerlehner, Facts of life with  $\gamma_5$ , Eur. Phys. J. C 18 (2001) 673 [hep-th/0005255] [INSPIRE].
- [46] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [47] P. Breitenlohner and D. Maison, Dimensional Renormalization and the Action Principle, Commun. Math. Phys. 52 (1977) 11 [INSPIRE].
- [48] M. Chala and A. Titov, One-loop matching in the SMEFT extended with a sterile neutrino, JHEP 05 (2020) 139 [arXiv:2001.07732] [INSPIRE].
- [49] T. Li, X.-D. Ma and M.A. Schmidt, General neutrino interactions with sterile neutrinos in light of coherent neutrino-nucleus scattering and meson invisible decays, JHEP 07 (2020) 152 [arXiv:2005.01543] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J.A. Dixon and J.C. Taylor, Renormalization of Wilson operators in gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 78 (1974) 552 [INSPIRE].
- [51] H. Kluberg-Stern and J.B. Zuber, Renormalization of Nonabelian Gauge Theories in a Background Field Gauge. 2. Gauge Invariant Operators, Phys. Rev. D 12 (1975) 3159 [INSPIRE].
- [52] S.D. Joglekar and B.W. Lee, General Theory of Renormalization of Gauge Invariant Operators, Annals Phys. 97 (1976) 160 [INSPIRE].
- [53] W.S. Deans and J.A. Dixon, Theory of Gauge Invariant Operators: Their Renormalization and S Matrix Elements, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 1113 [INSPIRE].

- [54] J.C. Collins, *Renormalization*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2023)
   [D0I:10.1017/9781009401807] [INSPIRE].
- [55] L.F. Abbott, The Background Field Method Beyond One Loop, Nucl. Phys. B 185 (1981) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [56] L.F. Abbott, M.T. Grisaru and R.K. Schaefer, The Background Field Method and the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 229 (1983) 372 [INSPIRE].
- [57] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar, L. Naterop and J. Pagès, An algebraic formula for two loop renormalization of scalar quantum field theory, JHEP 12 (2023) 165 [arXiv:2308.06315]
   [INSPIRE].
- [58] J. Aebischer and M. Pesut, One-loop Fierz transformations, JHEP 10 (2022) 090 [arXiv:2208.10513] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Fuentes-Martín et al., Evanescent operators in one-loop matching computations, JHEP 02 (2023) 031 [arXiv:2211.09144] [INSPIRE].
- [60] H. Bélusca-Maïto et al., Two-loop application of the Breitenlohner-Maison/'t Hooft-Veltman scheme with non-anticommuting  $\gamma_5$ : full renormalization and symmetry-restoring counterterms in an abelian chiral gauge theory, JHEP 11 (2021) 159 [arXiv:2109.11042] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M. Jamin and M.E. Lautenbacher, TRACER: Version 1.1: A Mathematica package for gamma algebra in arbitrary dimensions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 74 (1993) 265 [INSPIRE].
- [62] E.E. Jenkins and A.V. Manohar, Algebraic Structure of Lepton and Quark Flavor Invariants and CP Violation, JHEP 10 (2009) 094 [arXiv:0907.4763] [INSPIRE].
- [63] R. Ferrari, A. Le Yaouanc, L. Oliver and J.C. Raynal, Gauge invariance and dimensional regularization with  $\gamma_5$  in flavor changing neutral processes, Phys. Rev. D **52** (1995) 3036 [INSPIRE].
- [64] C.P. Martín and D. Sánchez-Ruiz, Action principles, restoration of BRS symmetry and the renormalization group equation for chiral non-Abelian gauge theories in dimensional renormalization with a nonanticommuting γ<sub>5</sub>, Nucl. Phys. B 572 (2000) 387 [hep-th/9905076] [INSPIRE].
- [65] P.A. Grassi, T. Hurth and M. Steinhauser, Practical algebraic renormalization, Annals Phys. 288 (2001) 197 [hep-ph/9907426] [INSPIRE].
- [66] H. Bélusca-Maïto, A. Ilakovac, M. Mađor-Božinović and D. Stöckinger, Dimensional regularization and Breitenlohner-Maison/'t Hooft-Veltman scheme for γ<sub>5</sub> applied to chiral YM theories: full one-loop counterterm and RGE structure, JHEP 08 (2020) 024 [arXiv:2004.14398] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C. Cornella, F. Feruglio and L. Vecchi, Gauge invariance and finite counterterms in chiral gauge theories, JHEP 02 (2023) 244 [arXiv:2205.10381] [INSPIRE].
- [68] H. Bélusca-Maïto et al., Introduction to Renormalization Theory and Chiral Gauge Theories in Dimensional Regularization with Non-Anticommuting γ<sub>5</sub>, Symmetry 15 (2023) 622 [arXiv:2303.09120] [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Misiak and M. Münz, Two loop mixing of dimension five flavor changing operators, Phys. Lett. B 344 (1995) 308 [hep-ph/9409454] [INSPIRE].
- [70] K.G. Chetyrkin, M. Misiak and M. Münz, Beta functions and anomalous dimensions up to three loops, Nucl. Phys. B 518 (1998) 473 [hep-ph/9711266] [INSPIRE].

- [71] J.-N. Lang, S. Pozzorini, H. Zhang and M.F. Zoller, Two-Loop Rational Terms in Yang-Mills Theories, JHEP 10 (2020) 016 [arXiv:2007.03713] [INSPIRE].
- [72] E. Witten, Dyons of Charge  $e\theta/2\pi$ , Phys. Lett. B 86 (1979) 283 [INSPIRE].
- [73] C. Abel et al., Measurement of the Permanent Electric Dipole Moment of the Neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 081803 [arXiv:2001.11966] [INSPIRE].
- [74] H. Georgi, T. Tomaras and A. Pais, Strong CP violation without instantons, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 469 [INSPIRE].
- [75] S.L. Adler, Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2426 [INSPIRE].
- [76] J.S. Bell and R. Jackiw, A PCAC puzzle:  $\pi^0 \to \gamma\gamma$  in the  $\sigma$  model, Nuovo Cim. A 60 (1969) 47 [INSPIRE].
- [77] K. Fujikawa, Path Integral Measure for Gauge Invariant Fermion Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 42 (1979) 1195 [INSPIRE].
- [78] K. Fujikawa, Path Integral for Gauge Theories with Fermions, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 2848
   [Erratum ibid. 22 (1980) 1499] [INSPIRE].
- [79] G. Bonneau, Trace and Axial Anomalies in Dimensional Renormalization Through Zimmermann Like Identities, Nucl. Phys. B 171 (1980) 477 [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Beneke and V.A. Smirnov, Asymptotic expansion of Feynman integrals near threshold, Nucl. Phys. B 522 (1998) 321 [hep-ph/9711391] [INSPIRE].
- [81] O.L. Crosas et al., One-loop matching of the CP-odd three-gluon operator to the gradient flow, Phys. Lett. B 847 (2023) 138301 [arXiv:2308.16221] [INSPIRE].
- [82] P. Nogueira, Automatic Feynman Graph Generation, J. Comput. Phys. 105 (1993) 279 [INSPIRE].
- [83] J.A.M. Vermaseren, New features of FORM, math-ph/0010025 [INSPIRE].
- [84] B. Ruijl, T. Ueda and J. Vermaseren, FORM version 4.2, arXiv:1707.06453 [INSPIRE].
- [85] R. Mertig, M. Bohm and A. Denner, FEYN CALC: Computer algebraic calculation of Feynman amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 64 (1991) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [86] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, New Developments in FeynCalc 9.0, Comput. Phys. Commun. 207 (2016) 432 [arXiv:1601.01167] [INSPIRE].
- [87] V. Shtabovenko, FeynHelpers: Connecting FeynCalc to FIRE and Package-X, Comput. Phys. Commun. 218 (2017) 48 [arXiv:1611.06793] [INSPIRE].
- [88] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, FeynCalc 9.3: New features and improvements, Comput. Phys. Commun. 256 (2020) 107478 [arXiv:2001.04407] [INSPIRE].
- [89] H.H. Patel, Package-X: A Mathematica package for the analytic calculation of one-loop integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 197 (2015) 276 [arXiv:1503.01469] [INSPIRE].
- [90] H.H. Patel, Package-X 2.0: A Mathematica package for the analytic calculation of one-loop integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 218 (2017) 66 [arXiv:1612.00009] [INSPIRE].
- [91] V. Cirigliano, E. Mereghetti and P. Stoffer, Non-perturbative renormalization scheme for the CP -odd three-gluon operator, JHEP 09 (2020) 094 [arXiv:2004.03576] [INSPIRE].
- [92] SYMLAT collaboration, Short flow-time coefficients of CP-violating operators, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 034509 [arXiv:2005.04199] [INSPIRE].
- [93] E. Mereghetti et al., One-loop matching for quark dipole operators in a gradient-flow scheme, JHEP 04 (2022) 050 [arXiv:2111.11449] [INSPIRE].

- [94] J. Bühler and P. Stoffer, One-loop matching of CP-odd four-quark operators to the gradient-flow scheme, JHEP 08 (2023) 194 [arXiv:2304.00985] [INSPIRE].
- [95] A.J. Buras, Weak Hamiltonian, CP violation and rare decays, in the proceedings of the Les Houches Summer School in Theoretical Physics, Session 68: Probing the Standard Model of Particle Interactions, Les Houches, France, July 28 – September 05 (1997), p. 281–539 [hep-ph/9806471] [INSPIRE].
- [96] G. 't Hooft, Dimensional regularization and the renormalization group, Nucl. Phys. B 61 (1973) 455 [INSPIRE].